

6

Overcoming Cancer Tolerance with Immune Checkpoint Blockade

John W. Myers, George E. Peoples, and Guy T. Clifton

Contents

6.1	Introduction	86
6.2	Neoantigens: Targets for the Immune System	88
6.3	Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte-Associated Antigen-4 (CTLA-4): The First	80
621	CTL A 4 Europian	89
632	CTLA-4 Fullcuoli	09
6.3.3	Toxicity	91
6.4	Programmed Death 1 (PD-1) Pathway	93
6.4.1	Function.	93
6.4.2	PD-1 Pathway in Cancer.	94
6.4.3	PD-1 Blockade	95
6.4.4	Nivolumab	95
6.4.5	Pembrolizumab	96
6.4.6	PD-L1 Blockade	96
6.4.7	Atezolizumab	97
6.4.8	Durvalumab	97
6.4.9	Avelumab	97
6.5	Immune-Related Response Criteria	97
6.6	CTLA-4 Blockade Monotherapy	98
6.6.1	Ipilimumab	98
6.6.2	Phase III Trials of Checkpoint Inhibitors in Melanoma	99
6.6.3	Adjuvant Checkpoint Inhibitors	100
6.7	Checkpoint Inhibitors as Combination Therapy	101
6.7.1	Checkpoint Inhibitors and Chemotherapy	101
6.7.2	Checkpoint Inhibitors and Radiation	104

J. W. Myers · G. E. Peoples · G. T. Clifton (⊠) Brooke Army Medical Center, San Antonio, TX, USA e-mail: guy.t.clifton.mil@mail.mil

	6.8	Combination Immunotherapy	105
	6.8.1	CTLA-4 Blockade and Vaccination.	106
	6.8.2	PD-1/PD-L1 and Vaccination	106
	6.8.3	CTLA-4 Blockade and Cytokine Therapy	107
	6.8.4	Combination Checkpoint Blockade	107
	6.9	Other Checkpoint Pathways Under Development	108
	6.9.1	Lymphocyte Activation Gene-3 (LAG-3)	108
	6.9.2	4-1BB	109
	6.9.3	OX-40	110
	6.9.4	Glucocorticoid-Induced TNFR-Related Protein (GITR)	111
	6.9.5	CD40	111
	6.9.6	TIM-3	113
	6.9.7	TGN1421: A Cautionary Tale	114
	6.10	Conclusion	114
References			

6.1 Introduction

In 1957, Thomas and Burnet proposed the immunosurveillance theory, contending that the immune system is continuously patrolling, recognizing, and eliminating individual or groups of transformed cells [1]. This theory together with the identification of tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) led to much of the work in cancer vaccines to date. Based on this theory, it stands to reason that if the immune system has failed to recognize or mount a sufficient immune response to cancer, thus allowing a cancer to grow until it is clinically evident, stimulating the immune system sufficiently against the cancer could correct the immune system's failings and destroy the cancer. While there is considerable data in support of this theory, a number of discrepancies have also been noted. Most notably, athymic nude mice, which are T-cell deficient, and immunosuppressed individuals (transplant patients) do not develop neoplasms that are not virally linked at rates much drastically higher than their immunocompetent counterparts [2, 3]. While better models have since confirmed the role of the immune system in protecting against cancer development, it is clear that the immunosurveillance theory alone is not sufficient to explain the role of immune systems in cancer development.

Active immunotherapy for cancer based on the immunosurveillance understanding of cancer has, for the most part, been characterized by promising preclinical and early phase trials with, ultimately, disappointing clinical results in later phase trials [4]. Vaccination techniques have focused on stimulating the immune system by exposure to single or multiple tumor-associated antigens with immunoadjuvants such as cytokines (GM-CSF, IL-2) or toxins. While a variety of different techniques have been tried, with the exception of sipuleucel-T, a cancer vaccine approved for treatment of metastatic prostate cancer, these techniques have largely proven insufficient to overcome the local and systemic immunosuppression of advanced cancer in order to achieve a clinically significant improvement [5]. Historically, various types of active immunotherapy have shown excellent results in eradicating or preventing tumors in relevant murine models. In early phase clinical trials, active immunotherapies have generally had minor, well-tolerated toxicity profiles and shown promising immunologic results; however, these have not translated to clinically meaningful endpoints when tested in larger-scale controlled trials. As noted above, an exception to this is the sipuleucel-T vaccine, which demonstrated significant benefit in overall survival in castrate-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC) in two phase III trials and has been FDA approved based on these results [5, 6].

The immune system-cancer interaction is now recognized to be more complex than once imagined. The cumulated results of experimental evidence have led to the "immunoediting theory," a modification of the previous immunosurveillance theory that explains how immunocompetent individuals develop cancer and how the immune system can help shape the biologic activity of the cancers themselves. The theory proposes that cancer proceeds though three phases: elimination, equilibrium, and escape. The elimination phase describes the recognition and elimination of nascent cancer cells as in the immunosurveillance theory. The equilibrium phase is a period where the cancer cells that avoid immune destruction are held at bay by the immune system and which, through selective pressure (immunoselection), can change the cancer's phenotype into a less immunogenic and more tolerance-inducing tumor. The escape phase describes the setting in which cancer cells have evolved to evade immune pressure and can replicate to become a clinically apparent neoplasm [7].

Cancer avoids immune destruction in the equilibrium phase and then is able to enter the escape phase through multiple mechanisms that have become increasingly well characterized. Cancer cells can escape immune detection by downregulating production of TAAs or the major histocompatability (MHC) complexes that the antigens are presented on [8, 9]. Tumor tissue can promote lymphocyte anergy, or unresponsiveness, by downregulating necessary co-stimulatory signals, which are necessary for functional lymphocyte activation, or upregulating coinhibitory signals, which are necessary for preventing autoimmunity. Tumors, through contact-mediated and soluble signals, recruit and cause proliferation of inhibitory cell populations such as regulatory T lymphocytes (Tregs), tolerogenic dendritic cells, and myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Additionally, tumors alter the cellular microenvironment through secretion of inhibitory cytokines and metabolic byproducts, all of which hamper effective immune response [10].

Given our increased understanding of how tumor cells actively inhibit and escape host immunity and the disappointing results of most cancer vaccine therapies, it has become increasingly clear that these failures do not stem from lack of ability to stimulate an appropriate immune response but rather from the inability of the immune response to overcome immunosuppressive mechanisms. In other words, regardless of how many stimulated, cancer-specific effector cells are created with a given vaccine, if the cells are rendered ineffective in the "immunoedited" tumor microenvironment, ultimately the therapy will fail [11]. A large amount of research effort is underway to identify, characterize, and target cancer escape mechanisms in hope of delivering more effective immunotherapeutic treatments.

As mentioned earlier, one major mechanism of immune resistance is through multiple costimulatory and inhibitory receptor-ligand combinations (immune checkpoints) that create a context for the effector and target cell (or antigenpresenting cell) interaction. Multiple immune checkpoints have now been identified and have been found to play an integral role in cancer escape (Fig. 6.1). Blockade of two of these checkpoint pathways, CLTA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1, has led to commercially available therapeutic drugs in patients with multiple different types of malignancy. Many other immunomodulatory checkpoints are being actively investigated and will, in all likelihood, lead to further therapeutic options for patients with cancer. In addition, the potential for combination therapy with multiple checkpoints targeted (such as CTLA-4, PD-1, PD-L1) or together with standard therapies or cancer vaccines remains great. This chapter will review the role of therapeutic checkpoint targets to overcome tumor-mediated immune suppression through targeted checkpoint modulation.

Fig. 6.1 Multiple immunomodulatory coinhibitory and costimulatory receptorligand pairs have been identified (although not all are depicted here). These pathways set the immunologic context when an antigen is presented on a T-cell receptor (TCR) to a major histocompatibility (MHC) complex



6.2 Neoantigens: Targets for the Immune System

With the development of multiple commercially available checkpoint blockade drugs, considerable research has been devoted to determining in which tumor types and in which clinical setting the drugs are beneficial. With this new focus, factors that make certain tumors more immunogenic are becoming clearer. All malignancies that become clinically apparent are able to evade immune destruction, but this is often due to immunosuppressive factors (rather than lack of immunogenicity of the tumor itself) that can be countered with checkpoint inhibitors and, potentially, other immunostimulatory drugs in development. Neoantigens are unique antigens generated from gene mutations during neoplastic transformation. Each neoantigen produced represents a potential target for the host immune system to differentiate the tumor from normal tissue. However, not all neoantigens are inherently immunogenic. It is presumably a matter of chance whether the mutations a tumor acquires produce neoantigens immune system is capable of recognizing and targeting. As a consequence, in general, tumors with a higher mutational load, such as melanoma, NSCLC, and microsatellite unstable tumors, are more likely to respond to checkpoint inhibitors [12–17]. However, this is not entirely predictive as tumors with relatively lower somatic mutations (HCC, clear cell carcinoma)

have shown benefit, albeit with lower response rates, to checkpoint inhibitor therapy [18]. Checkpoint inhibitors allow the ineffective immune responses to be more effective (but there has to be an immune response to begin with), illuminating why checkpoint inhibitors are not effective in all patients.

At this time, there are five checkpoint inhibitors approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for a variety of cancers, including ipilimumab (melanoma), pembrolizumab (melanoma, non-small cell lung cancer [NSCLC], head and neck squamous cell cancer, classical Hodgkin's lymphoma [cHL], urothelial carcinoma, microsatellite instability [MSI]-high colon cancer, gastric cancer), nivolumab (melanoma, NSCLC, renal cell carcinoma [RCC], cHL, MSIhigh colon cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma [HCC]), atezolizumab (urothelial carcinoma, NSCLC), avelumab (Merkel cell carcinoma [MCC], urothelial carcinoma), and durvalumab (urothelial carcinoma) [19].

6.3 Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte-Associated Antigen-4 (CTLA-4): The First Checkpoint Pathway to Demonstrate Clinical Benefit

Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 (CTLA-4, CD152) was the first recognized inhibitory immune checkpoint molecule [20, 21]. CTLA-4 is the target of the first FDA-approved checkpoint-targeting drug, ipilimumab. During the development of CTLA-4 blocking monoclonal antibodies (mAb), much has been learned about dosing, toxicity, combination therapy, and tumor response that are now and will continue to be useful as other immune checkpoint therapies are developed.

6.3.1 CTLA-4 Function

When CTLA-4 (CD152) was first reported in 1987, it was presumed to play a role in controlling T-cell activation given its close sequence homology with CD28, its proximity to CD28 on chromosome 1, and its expression on cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) coinciding with T-cell activation [20]. The first CTLA-4^{-/-} knockout mice, created in the mid-1990s, confirmed that CTLA-4 played a key role in T-cell homeostasis as the mice quickly succumbed to polyclonal lymphoproliferative disease characterized by massive expansion of activated T cells [22]. Since then, it has become clear that CTLA-4 functions as a negative counterpart to CD28, the required costimulatory signal for the activation and expansion of T cells.

For T lymphocytes to be activated, an antigenspecific T-cell receptor (TCR) must bind to an MHC complex containing the appropriate peptide in its binding grove. While this is necessary, it is not sufficient to complete activation. A number of additional regulatory pathways have since been elucidated that closely control T-cell activation to ensure appropriate, directed immune responses under normal circumstances. Among these pathways, co-stimulation with CD28 (on the T cell) binding to B7-1 (CD80) or B7-2 (CD86) on the antigen-presenting cell (APC) is perhaps the most important and best known. B7-1 and B7-2 are expressed on APCs and are typically upregulated after activation [23, 24].

As a competitively binding counterpart to CD28, CTLA-4 is an inhibitory checkpoint molecule expressed on activated T cells and constitutively expressed on regulatory T cells (Treg) [21]. After TCR-antigen-mediated activation of T lymphocytes, expression of CTLA-4 on the cell membrane increases dramatically. CLTA-4 suppresses immune activation through multiple pathways, and the relative importance of each in overall immune homeostasis and in diseaserelated autoimmunity and immune suppression is not clear [25].

The CTLA-4 receptor controls effector T-lymphocyte activation by competitive binding with CD28 as well as through internal and external signaling. CTLA-4 binds the same ligands as CD28 (B7-1 and B7-2) but with 20 to 100 times greater avidity and can accommodate two ligands, whereas CD28 can only bind one [26–28]. CTLA-4 appears to blunt T-cell responses by not only competitively binding the CD28 ligands, B7-1 and B7-2, but also by recepdecreasing production of IL-2, limiting T-cell dwell time, and enhancing Treg function, among other mechanisms [29]. There is evidence that competitive binding of B7-1 and B7-2 by CTLA-4 remains the most important function in counteracting CD28-mediated T-cell stimulation, as treatment of CLTA-4-deficient mouse models with CTLA-4-immunoglobulin fusion protein (CLTA-4Ig) can abrogate the lymphoproliferative autoimmunity which would otherwise be fatal [30]. Additionally, the singular importance of B7-1 and B7-2 in these pathways is demonstrated by the fact that mice deficient in CTLA-4 as well as B7-1 and B7-2 do not demonstrate lymphoproliferative autoimmunity [31]. Unlike CD28, which has some level of constitu-

tive expression on most T cells, CTLA-4 is only

expressed in significant quantity on effector T cells after activation. CTLA-4 reaches a maximal expression level as long as 48 h after the T cell is activated serving as a negative feedback loop to turn off or prevent an overly robust immune response as well as to prevent autoimmunity (Fig. 6.2) [27, 32].

In addition to directly and indirectly inhibiting effector T-lymphocyte activation and proliferation, CTLA-4 interacts with Tregs in a manner important to its overall function. As previously stated, CTLA-4 is expressed at some constitutive level on Treg cells, and higher levels of expression may be rapidly mobilized from an intracellular source [25]. The exact role that Treg-mediated immune suppression plays in the overall context of CTLA-mediated immune control is not entirely clear. There is evidence from



Fig. 6.2 Mechanism of action of CTLA-4 in suppressing activated T cells and proposed mechanism of action for ipilimumab

lymphocytes treated with anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) in vitro, which suggests that CTLA-4 blockade mediates the immune system by both direct activation of effector T lymphocytes and Treg depletion, dependent on the mAb subtype and its ability to stimulate antibodydependent cytotoxicity (ADCC) [33, 34].

The important role of CTLA-4 in Treg homeostasis and immune control has become clear in multiple experiments. Treg-mediated CLTA-4 inhibits B7-1 and B7-2 expression on dendritic cells [35]. Murine models with CTLA-4-deficient CD4⁺ FOXP3⁺ (Treg) lymphocytes developed lymphoproliferative disease [35]. Additionally, CTLA-4 plays an active role in Treg homeostasis as blocking the receptor with anti-CTLA-4 mAbs leads to a rapid proliferation in peripheral Treg cells [36–38]. This action is thought to be due to CTLA-4 counteraction against CD28-stimulated proliferation of Tregs as blocking both CTLA-4 and CD28 leads to a contraction in the peripheral Treg population [24, 36]. However, expansion of Tregs with CTLA-4 blockade does not appear to lead to increased Treg function [39]. Similarly, in murine organ transplant models, deficiency of CD28 or both B7-1 and B7-2 leads to a significant decrease in the Treg population; however, the mice get paradoxical acceleration of graft rejection inversely proportional to the Treg level [39].

As work progresses in deciphering the mechanisms of the CTLA-4 receptor's complex interplay within broader immune homeostasis, the CTLA-4 receptor remains an active target of investigation for modulating the immune system for therapeutic purposes. The identified roles that CTLA-4 plays in human disease are substantial and ever-growing. There is evidence that CTLA-4 polymorphisms plays a role in autoimmune conditions such as type 1 diabetes, thyroiditis autoimmune hypothyroidism, and Graves' disease [40–43].

6.3.2 Tremelimumab

Tremelimumab (formerly CP-675, 206, ticilimumab, previously licensed to Pfizer, New York, NY, now licensed to AstraZeneca, London, UK) is another humanized anti-CTLA-4 mAb that has been evaluated in human clinical trials [29, 44]. Tremelimumab is an IgG2 antibody that, similar to ipilimumab, blocks the binding site of CLTA-4. It has a longer half-life of approximately 22 days compared to 12–14 days for ipilimumab [44]. In vitro testing of tremelimumab revealed enhanced T-cell activation, demonstrated by increased cytokine production. Based on this, as well as initial experience with ipilimumab, the drug proceeded with human trials.

The first dose escalation phase I trial of tremelimumab enrolled metastatic melanoma (n = 34), renal cell carcinoma (n = 4), and colon cancer patients (n = 1). The trial did note dose-limiting autoimmune toxicity, but determined that the drug was tolerated up to 15 mg/kg in a single dose. The trial also noted complete or partial response in 4 of the 29 patients with measurable melanoma [45]. Ongoing evaluation of tremelimumab is occurring in a phase II hepatocellular carcinoma study in combination with durvalumab (NCT02519348).

A phase I/II trial further evaluated dosing in metastatic melanoma patients and recommended dosing at 15 mg/kg every 3 months for further study given equivalent efficacy and better safety to more frequent dosing [46]. A subsequent single-arm, phase II trial of tremelimumab was conducted in 251 patients with relapsed or refractory metastatic melanoma. Patients were treated with tremelimumab at 15 mg/kg every 90 days (as recommended in the previous trial) for 4 doses and allowed up to 4 additional doses in patients with a tumor response or stable disease. The trial revealed an objective response rate of 6.6%. The trial reported an overall OS of 10.0 months, which is comparable with what was found in the previously described phase III trial of ipilimumab in similar patients. Serious adverse events (\geq grade 3) were seen in 21% of patients [47].

The phase III trial of tremelimumab monotherapy in treatment-naïve unresectable stage III or stage IV melanoma began enrolling in March 2006. Patients were randomized to receive tremelimumab at 15 mg/kg every 90 days until symptomatic disease progression or standard-of-care chemotherapy (temozolomide or dacarbazine) for 12 weeks or until disease progression. The primary end-point was OS. The trial was terminated by the data safety monitoring board at the second interim analysis (after two-thirds of planned events had occurred) because the test statistic crossed the prespecified futility boundary [48]. Survival follow-up continued after the trial was stopped. At final analysis, the median overall survival was 12.6 months in the tremelimumab arm compared to 10.7 months in the chemotherapy arm (p = 0.127). Objective response rates were similar in both arms (10.7% vs. 9.8%, respectively). Grade 3 or 4 adverse events occurred in 52% of tremelimumab patients compared to 37% of chemotherapy patients [49]. More recent work has suggested that the lack of tremelimumab efficacy may stem from the fact that it is an IgG2 isotype mAb, thus less able to produce reduction in intratumoral Tregs than ipilimumab, an IgG1 mAb [34]. Despite its lack of proven effect in this trial, tremelimumab remains under active investigation in other patient populations (discussed further below).

6.3.3 Toxicity

As previously described, CTLA-4 blocking antibodies can lead to unique, immunologic toxicities termed "immune-related adverse events" (irAEs) through nonspecific activation of the immune system. While the majority of these are minor and manageable, they occur relatively frequently, particularly at higher doses and can be severe. In the first phase III trial of ipilimumab, with treatment at 3 mg/kg, 14 patients (2.1%)receiving ipilimumab died from causes deemed treatment-related, with 7 of the deaths were from irAEs [50]. In a pooled analysis of 325 patients treated with ipilimumab at 10 mg/kg every 3 weeks for 4 doses, 72.3% experienced irAEs and 25.2% were \geq grade 3 [51]. In the phase III trial combining ipilimumab with dacarbazine for treatment naïve melanoma, 56.3% of patients in the combination arm experienced grade 3 or 4 adverse events. The most frequent irAEs are of the skin, gastrointestinal tract, liver, and endocrine system. These adverse events tend to occur at predictable times after receiving CTLA-4 blocking antibodies [51].

Skin toxicity is the most frequent irAE in some series, with roughly half of the patients receiving ipilimumab experiencing some form of rash. The rashes can typically be managed with symptom control and topical medication until they become more severe when systemic steroids and/or withholding or discontinuing treatment may be necessary. There are rare reported cases of toxic epidermal necrolysis that have been fatal [52].

Diarrhea is another frequent adverse event seen in CTLA-4 blockade treatment, occurring in between 32.8% and 51% of patients in phase III trials of ipilimumab and tremelimumab [49, 50, 53]. Severe diarrhea, colitis, and perforation are less common but can occur. Like skin toxicity, initial management is symptomatic. A high degree of suspicion for colitis with a low threshold for endoscopic evaluation is necessary for more severe (≥grade 2) diarrhea. The diagnosis of colitis or grade 3 or higher diarrhea necessitates more aggressive treatment with fluid replacement, systemic steroids, and treatment cessation. Infliximab treatment has been effective for severe colitis. A high index of suspicion for perforation with involvement of gastroenterology and surgery is also warranted in these cases [52].

Hepatotoxicity is seen less frequently (3-9%) with CTLA-4 blocking antibodies but can be severe. In general, liver function tests should be followed during treatment, and \geq grade 3 hepatotoxicity requires systemic treatment with systemic steroids and occasionally mycophenolate mofetil along with drug cessation [51].

Endocrine toxicities consist of hypophysitis frequently, autoimmune thyroid and, less dysfunction and adrenal insufficiency. Hypophysitis appears to occur in less than 5% of cases but typically has permanent sequelae and can lead to life-threatening adrenal insufficiency if not properly recognized and managed. Suspicion for hypophysitis should lead to pituitary MRI and laboratory testing. Treatment consists of systemic steroids and withholding CTLA-4 blocking treatment. Monitoring of serum chemistries and thyroid function panels is recommended with ipilimumab treatment [54].

Other less frequent irAEs seen with CTLA-4 blocking therapies include episcleritis, uveitis, pancreatitis, neuropathies, and lymphadenopathy. Screening for a history of autoimmune disease and consideration of risk factors and expected benefits are recommended given the potential for serious toxicity with CTLA-4 blocking antibodies. National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines recommend participation in a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (REMS) program when using ipilimumab [55].

Interestingly, multiple phase I and II trials of ipilimumab have noted a higher rate of clinical response in patients with irAEs and, in particular, grade 3 and 4 irAEs [52, 56–62]. A similar correlation was not addressed in the phase III trials of CLTA-4 blockade antibodies, and further evaluation may help clarify this as well as the underlying mechanisms.

6.4 Programmed Death 1 (PD-1) Pathway

6.4.1 Function

Programmed death 1 (PD-1) is a more recently discovered immune checkpoint receptor that has generated considerable excitement based on favorable preclinical profiling and initial clinical results. PD-1 was first discovered in 1992 by subtractive mRNA hybridization in an attempt to identify genes involved in programmed cell death [63]. Its protein structure was deduced based on the mRNA sequence obtained; however, its function remained unclear until PD1^{-/-} knockout mice were noted to develop lupus-like autoimmune disease [64]. At that time, it was correctly suspected that PD-1 played a role in inducing peripheral tolerance.

Since its discovery, the function and significance of PD-1 has become more clear [65]. Like CTLA-4, PD-1 is a transmembrane protein expressed on effector immune cells [66]. Also like CTLA-4, expression of PD-1 is inducibly expressed with lymphocyte activation, although it is expressed more broadly than CTLA-4 as it is also found on activated B lymphocytes and NK cells [67–69]. PD-1 is bound principally by programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1, B7-H1) but also, to a lesser degree, by programmed death ligand 2 (PD-L2, B7-DC) [70]. PD-L1 is constitutively expressed in certain tissues such as lung and placental macrophages [71]. Its high level of expression in the placenta has been implicated in mediating maternofetal tolerance [72, 73]. PD-L1 expression can also be induced on a broad range of hematopoietic, endothelial, and epithelial tissues in response to proinflammatory cytokines, such as interferon, GM-CSF, IL-4, and IL-19 [67, 74–77]. PD-L2 expression is more limited as it is inducibly expressed on dendritic cells, macrophages, and mast cells [71].

The PD-1 receptor pathway is an important negative regulator of the immune system. PD-1 appears to play a role primarily in dampening immune response in the setting of peripheral inflammation as opposed to CTLA-4, which plays a greater role in regulating T-cell activation [71]. As mentioned before, PD-1 knockout mice helped initially reveal the function of PD-1. The initial B6-PD-1^{-/-}congenic mice developed varying degrees of autoimmune arthritis and glomerulonephritis by 6 months of age and exaggerated inflammatory response to infection, in contrast to CTLA-4 knockout mice who die of diffuse lymphoproliferative disease shortly after birth [22, 64, 78]. Remarkably, later PD-1^{-/-} knockout (BALB/c-PD-1-/mouse models and MLR-PD-1-/-) developed fatal autoimmune dilated cardiomyopathy early in life due to production of autoantibodies [79, 80]. In contrast, mice deficient in PD-L1 do not manifest autoimmunity, but can have increased accumulation of CD8⁺ lymphocytes in the liver and increased tissue destruction with experimental autoimmune hepatitis [81].

Ligation of PD-1, which again is found primarily on immunologic cells, counters CD28mediated signaling through multiple mechanisms. PD-1 is phosphorylated upon ligand engagement, initiating a cascade of intracellular events [82, 83]. PD-1 signaling decreases the production of several proinflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , and IL-2 [71]. It may also serve to retard cell activation mediated via CD28 and IL-2. PD-1 ligation has also been implicated in inhibiting transcription factors and initiation of several cell death pathways [84–86]. Importantly, PD-1 and its ligands also appear to play a role in shifting lymphocyte response from activation to tolerance when exposed to antigens, an attribute that is particularly significant for cancer immunotherapy [87]. Interestingly, PD-L1 was discovered to function not only as a ligand for PD-1 but also as a receptor bound by B7-1 (CD80) capable of delivering an inhibitory signal [88]. This finding not only demonstrates the complexity of lymphocyte regulation but suggests that blockade of these molecules could result in functionally different outcomes [78].

The PD-1 and PD-L pathways have been implicated in a variety of human diseases. Higher than normal expression levels of PD-1 and single nucleotide polymorphisms of PD-1 have been implicated in multiple autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus, Sjogren's disease, type 1 diabetes, and rheumatoid arthritis. As such, this pathway remains an active therapeutic target in these conditions [65]. In infectious diseases, the PD-1 and PD-L pathways play an important role in preventing unnecessary immune-mediated tissue destruction and have also been implicated in preventing the clearance of chronic viral, bacterial, and parasitic infections [71, 89].

6.4.2 PD-1 Pathway in Cancer

Just as the PD-1 pathway plays a central role in tolerance of chronic infections, it also appears to have a primary role in cancer tolerance and immune escape. PD-1 ligand expression, particularly of PD-L1 expression, has been demonstrated at various levels on a large variety of human cancer tissues. Higher expression of PD-L1 on tumor cells is associated with worse prognosis, more aggressive features, and/or resistance to immunotherapy in the large majority of cancers in which it has been characterized [90– 101]. However, in some cases higher expression appears to have little influence on prognosis, as was found in NSCLC, and has even been associated with a more favorable prognosis, as found in colorectal cancer without mismatch repair (MMR) deficiency [102, 103]. CD8⁺ tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (CD8+ TILs) have been noted to have high levels of PD-1 expression in many cases; nonetheless, correlation between PD-L expression and prognosis is mixed [97, 102, 104, 105]. Circulating NK cells in cancer patients have been noted to express PD-1, while healthy control NK cells do not [106]. Furthermore, preclinical data demonstrates that increasing tumor expression of PD-L1 makes it less susceptible to immunotherapy, while blocking it increases its vulnerability to immunemediated destruction [107-110].

Some of the differences observed in tumor PD-L1 expression and correlation with cancer prognosis may be due to tumor-host interaction. Two recent studies examining human melanocytic lesions and colorectal cancer found a strong positive correlation between tumor PD-L1 expression and patient survival, in contrast to the majority of tissue types previously examined. However, in addition to this, higher PD-L1 expression was associated with both increased tumor infiltrating lymphocytes and interferon gamma (INF- γ) levels or gene expression in the tumor microenvironment [103, 111]. In these cases, the higher levels of PD-L1 expression may be in response to INF- γ signaling, as observed in normal human tissue [112, 113]. Thus, upregulation of PD-L1 expression may represent an adaptive tumor response to tumorspecific immunity, termed "adaptive resistance." [111, 114] The effective host immune response may explain the more favorable outcomes observed in these patients. Other evidence implicates different transcriptionally related oncogenic pathways in the upregulation of PD-1, which may or may not be related to external inflammatory signaling [92]. The adaptive resistance hypothesis may help further explain how tumors are able to escape immune stimulation from active immunotherapy and lead to blockade of the PD-1 pathway of particular therapeutic interest.

6.4.3 PD-1 Blockade

In preclinical studies with murine cancer models, anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 blockade demonstrated antitumor effect as monotherapy and augmented the effects when given comitant with cancer vaccination [115–120]. Similarly, ex vivo blockade of PD-1 or PD-L1 improved the ability of human lymphocytic function against tumor tissue in multiple studies [107, 121–123]. Based on the functional importance of PD-1 in cancer as well as promising preclinical therapeutic results, several blocking mAbs have proceeded to human clinical trials.

6.4.4 Nivolumab

Nivolumab (MDX-1106, BMS-936558, Bristol-Myers Squibb, New York, NY) is a fully humanized IgG4 mAb that binds to PD-1, blocking its binding site. It was initially tested in a phase I, dose escalation trial on 296 patients with heavily pretreated advanced melanoma (n = 104), colorectal cancer (n = 19), CRPC (n = 17), NSCLC (n = 122), and renal cell carcinoma (n = 34). Nivolumab was given at 0.3, 1, 3, or 10 mg/kg in six patient cohorts followed by expansion cohorts at 10 mg/kg. Patients were initially given a single dose and allowed additional doses if they demonstrated clinical benefit; however, the trial transitioned into a phase Ib where patients were dosed every 2 weeks and reassessed every 8 weeks. Treatment was continued for up to 96 weeks or until disease progression or complete response. Overall, treatment with nivolumab was better tolerated than treatment with CTLA-4 blocking antibodies with no maximum tolerated dose achieved. Only 14% experienced serious $(\geq$ grade 3) drug toxicity, leading to the discontinuation of therapy in only 5%. There were drugrelated adverse events in 41% and serious drug-related adverse events in 6% of patients that were likely irAEs, including pneumonitis, diarrhea, colitis, hepatitis, hypophysitis, and vitiligo. Pneumonitis, which occurred in 3% of patients, is of special interest, since it was not typically seen with CTLA-4 blocking mAbs and led to only three treatment-related deaths [124]. This toxicity may be secondary to constitutive expression of PD-L1 in alveolar macrophages.

Nivolumab treatment demonstrated substantial antitumor effect, with partial or complete responses (by RECIST criteria) observed in patients with melanoma, NSCLC, and renal cell carcinoma but not colorectal cancer or CRPC. Responses were observed across various doses at rates of 19–41% in melanoma, 6–32% in NSCLC, and 24–31% in renal cell carcinoma. One patient with melanoma and one with renal cell carcinoma had complete response to treatment. Responses tended to be durable with over half of melanoma and renal cell responses lasting for greater than 1 year. In addition, disease stability and mixed response (as described in irRC) were observed in a substantial portion of patients. Further analysis of PD-L1 expression from 61 patients who had pretreatment specimens available demonstrated an objective response in 36% of tumors expressing PD-L1 and none in PD-L1negative tumors [124].

This data raises the possibility that PD-L1 could serve as a biomarker for response to therapy, an idea that is being actively investigated. PD-L1 has been shown to be a prognostic biomarker in the tumor cells of head and neck squamous cell cancer [125]; however, a recent review indicates that PD-L1 expression alone is insufficient for patient selection for most malignancies, both as monotherapy and combination therapy [126]. Another group showed the association between the mutational load of >100 nonsynonymous somatic mutations or neoantigens and ipilimumab or tremelimumab therapy with long-term clinical benefit in patients with advanced melanoma [127]. Another study in melanoma patients showed an association between that same mutational load and clinical benefit (complete or partial response or stable disease with overall survival longer than 1 year). Interestingly, only 0.04% of the identified antigens were present in more than one patient who showed clinical benefit, suggesting that most neoantigens associated with immunotherapy success are patient specific. Most recently, however, a systematic review and meta-analysis of 6664 patients found that PD-L1 expression was predictive of favorable response across tumor types including non-small cell lung cancer, melanoma, bladder cancer, renal cell carcinoma, gastroesophageal cancer, head and neck cancer, merkel cell carcinoma, and small cell lung cancer (OR 2.26, 95% CI, 1.85–2.75, p < 0.001), with the greatest effect observed in non-small cell lung cancer, where quantitative PD-L1 testing is now recommended prior to treatment (OR 2.51, 95% CI 1.99–3.17, p < 0.001) [12, 127].

Nivolumab has now been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for use in humans in multiple cancer types. It was first approved in 2014 for patients with unresectable or metastatic melanoma and disease progression following ipilimumab and a BRAF inhibitor if applicable. Approximately 1 year later, nivolumab was approved for metastatic squamous and nonsquamous NSCLC with progression on or after platinum-based chemotherapy, unresectable or metastatic melanoma in combination with ipilimumab in BRAF V600 wild-type patients, and renal cell carcinoma in patients who received prior antiangiogenic therapy. In 2016, approval was granted for classical Hodgkin lymphoma (cHL) that progressed after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation and recurrent or metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma that progressed on or after platinum-based chemotherapy. To date, additional approvals have been granted in locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma on or following platinum-based chemotherapy, adult and pediatric microsatellite high (MSI-H) or mismatch repair-deficient metastatic colon cancer that has progressed following chemotherapy, and HCC in patients previously treated with sorafenib [17, 19, 128–134].

6.4.5 Pembrolizumab

Pembrolizumab (Keytruda, Merck, Whitehouse Station, NJ) is a humanized monoclonal antibody that binds to PD-1 and blocks interaction with PD-L1 and PD-L2. At this time, it is FDA approved in patients with unresectable or metastatic melanoma, select NSCLC, recurrent head and neck squamous cancer, refractory cHL, locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma, and select gastric cancers. Most notably, pembrolizumab has received a broad indication for all adults and pediatric MSI-H or mismatch repair deficient solid tumors who have progressed following prior treatment, and colorectal cancer that has progressed following chemotherapy.

Deserving special mention is the first-of-itskind MSI-H, and mismatch repair deficient (dMMR) indication was obtained in five uncontrolled, open-label, multi-cohort, multicenter, single-arm trials⁴⁵, known respectively as KEYNOTE-016, -164, -012, -028, -158. A total of 149 MSI-H or dMMR patients met inclusion criteria, and 98% had metastatic disease. Most had received two or more prior therapies. Patients received either 200 mg every 3 weeks or 10 mg/kg every 2 weeks. The majority (60%) of patients had colorectal cancer, and the remainder consisted of multiple solid tumors most commonly endometrial, biliary, and gastric/GE junction tumors. The overall response rate was 39.6% (95% CI 31.7-47.9), with 78% of patients demonstrating a durable response at 6 months [19, 135-140].

6.4.6 PD-L1 Blockade

Initial results of the PD-1 pathway blockade are very encouraging. The findings of objective clinical responses of up to 41% of subgroups of patients with nivolumab and relatively high response rates in NSCLC, a disease historically resistant to immunotherapy, are unprecedented in cancer immunotherapy. Additionally, lower rates of toxicity, in particular, serious irAEs, compared to CTLA-4 blockade have given hope that this pathway will yield more widely applicable and bettertolerated therapies. Much work remains and is currently in progress to bring these therapies into general clinical use. Determination of optimal dosing, duration of treatment, and the subsets of patients who benefit from treatment are all underway. As with CLTA-4 blockade, preclinical data supports a possible synergistic effect when PD-1 pathway blockade is combined with other cancer

treatments such as chemotherapy, radiation, and immunotherapy; this deserves and is receiving further investigation [107, 119, 121, 141]. As these investigations move forward, one area of particular interest will be whether PD-L1 expression on tumors continues to serve as a reliable biomarker for predicted therapeutic benefit, thus increasing the ever-growing trend of more personalized, tailored treatment for individual tumors.

6.4.7 Atezolizumab

Atezolizumab is an Fc-engineered, humanized, monoclonal antibody that binds to PD-L1, blocking its interaction with PD-1 and B7-1 receptors. It is now FDA approved in patients with unresectable or metastatic urothelial carcinoma who are not eligible for platinum-based chemotherapy or who progressed on such therapy and metastatic NSCLC with progression on or after platinumbased chemotherapy. The urothelial carcinoma indication was granted accelerated approval in 2015 based on early-phase results in 310 patients who had disease progression after platinumbased therapy. Compared to historical controls with a 10% overall response rate, an objective response rate of 15% with a median follow-up of 11.7 months was achieved. In addition, increased levels of PD-L1 expression on immune cells were associated with increased response [142–145].

NSCLC approval was based on two randomized, open-label clinical trials (POPLAR and OAK) where atezolizumab 1200 mg IV every 3 weeks was compared with docetaxel and an overall survival benefit of 2.9 months in POPLAR at a median survival of 12.6 months and 4.2 months in OAK at a median survival of 13.8 months [144, 146].

6.4.8 Durvalumab

Durvalumab (MEDI-4736) was recently approved for locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma who progressed after platinum-based chemotherapy. It was approved under accelerated approval based on a phase I/II open-label study in 182 patients who had disease progression on or after platinum-based chemotherapy and received durvalumab 10 mg/kg IV every 2 weeks for 12 weeks. 31 patients (17%) demonstrated clinical responses, with 5 complete responses at a median follow-up of 5.6 months [147].

Additional approval has been granted for patients with unresectable stage III NSCLC without disease progression following platinumbased chemotherapy and radiation. This approval was granted based on the PACIFIC study, a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled study enrolling 713 patients who had completed at least two cycles of platinum-based chemotherapy and definitive radiation. Patients who received durvalumab demonstrated a statistically significant overall response rate of 28.4% compared to 16% in the placebo group (p < 0.001), with a longer median duration of response in the durvalumab group (72.8% vs. 46.8% had an ongoing response at 18 months post-randomization). Median progression-free survival was 16.8 months for durvalumab versus 5.6 months for placebo (95% CI 4.7–7.8) [148].

6.4.9 Avelumab

Avelumab is another PD-L1 blocking antibody that received accelerated FDA approval in 2017 for metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma in adults and children age 12 and older. This approval was granted based on a prospective, open-label, phase II trial in patients with stage IV, chemotherapyrefractive Merkel cell carcinoma who were given avelumab 10 mg/kg every 2 weeks. 88 patients received at least one dose, and 28 (32%) patients achieved an objective response (20 partial, 8 complete) at a median follow-up of 10.4 months [149, 150].

6.5 Immune-Related Response Criteria

Initial WHO response criteria and later RECIST criteria, which have undergone many revisions over the years, were developed to identify and

	Word Health Organization (WHO)	Immune-related response criteria (irRC)
CR	Disappearance of all lesions in two observations at least 4 weeks apart	Disappearance of all lesions in two observations at least 4 weeks apart
PR	≥50% decrease in SPD of all index lesions in the absence of progression of nonindex lesions or new lesions in two observations at least 2 weeks apart	≥50% decrease in total tumor burden in two observations at least 4 weeks apart
SD	<50% decrease compared to baseline and <25% increase compared to nadir measurements of the SPD of index lesions, in the absence of progression of nonindex lesions or new lesions	<50 decrease compared to baseline and <25% increase compared to nadir
PD	≥25% increase in SPD compared with nadir or progressions of nonindex lesions or appearance of new lesions	≥25% increase in tumor burden compared to nadir in two observations at least 4 weeks apart

 Table 6.1
 Comparison of World Health Organization (WHO) and immune-related response criteria (irRC) for tumor response

CR complete response, *PR* partial response, *SD* stable disease, *PD* progressive disease, *SPD* sum of the products of the largest dimensions of lesions

standardize definitions of tumors responsive to cytotoxic therapy and not as a surrogate for survival [151]. They have been used in early phase clinical trials as a surrogate for response to therapy. The use of these criteria assumes that tumors will shrink or stabilize at the outset of therapy. Tumor growth or the appearance of new metastases constitutes progressive disease and, therefore, lack of response. In immunotherapy trials, including those evaluating ipilimumab, it has been shown that tumors often progress or remain stable before responding, therefore making RECIST criteria less helpful in predicting treatment response. Based on these observations, new immune-related response criteria (irRC) were proposed (Table 6.1). The new criteria do not necessarily consider the appearance of new lesions or growth of isolated lesions as progressive disease but, instead, consider overall tumor burden. Based on retrospective observations of 487 metastatic melanoma patients in three phase II trials of ipilimumab at 10 mg/kg dosing, 9.7% of treated patients initially classified as progressive disease under WHO criteria later had evidence of response to therapy. In retrospective reclassification by irRC, response to therapy appears to correlate better with overall survival than WHO criteria [152]. Immunerelated response criteria have been used alongside WHO criteria in multiple ipilimumab trials since it was first introduced [153, 154]. Further prospective validation will be needed to determine to what degree it correlates with overall survival.

6.6 CTLA-4 Blockade Monotherapy

Two mAbs, ipilimumab and tremelimumab, were developed in parallel. The therapies underwent phase III trials that ultimately led to approval for ipilimumab for treating metastatic melanoma and showed disappointing results for tremelimumab.

6.6.1 Ipilimumab

Based on the work in murine models, fully humanized IgG1 CTLA-4 mAbs were created by Medarex Inc. (Princeton, NJ; purchased by Bristol-Myers Squibb, New York, NY, in 2009) using a transgenic hybridoma HuMAb mouse model. The proprietary mouse model has multiple genetic modifications designed to facilitate production of high-avidity human IgG mAbs [155]. The mAb used for initial in vivo testing was selected based on affinity and specificity for CTLA-4 as well as ability to block the binding site. The antibody, called 10D1 (later designated MDX-010 and ipilimumab), also had crossreactivity with macaques monkey CTLA-4. It was initially tested in this setting where it was shown to increase antibody response to hepatitis

surface antigen as well as a human melanoma cell vaccine. Additionally, the macaques did not demonstrate polycolonal T-cell activation or autoimmunity [156]. Based on this work, ipilim-umab proceeded with human trials.

6.6.1.1 Ipilimumab in Uveal Melanoma

Uveal melanoma is a rare cancer that, like cutaneous melanoma, shares melanocyes as the cell of origin but has different pathogenesis and clinical behavior. Similar to melanoma, it has a very poor prognosis when it has metastasized (typically to the liver) and is resistant to systemic chemotherapy [156, 157]. Three open-label, multicenter, single arm phase II trials have been conducted using ipilimumab in uveal melanoma. The GEM-1 trial enrolled 32 patients treated with 10 mg/kg ipilimumab. At a median followup of 5.5 months, 13 patients had evaluable responses, with 1 having a partial response (7.7%) and 6 having stable disease (46.2%) [158].

The DeCOG treated 53 pretreated and treatment-naïve patients with metastatic uveal melanoma with ipilimumab at a dose of 3 mg/kg. Overall, they reported a relatively disappointing median progression-free survival (2.8 months) and overall survival (6.8 months) [159].(NCT01585194). The GEM-1402 trial is a phase I/II trial looking at ipilimumab in combination with nivolumab in the adjuvant setting for high-risk uveal melanoma after completion of standard treatment. In an interim analysis, it showed progression-free survival of 4.99 months at a median follow-up of 4.6 months (NCT02626962).

6.6.2 Phase III Trials of Checkpoint Inhibitors in Melanoma

The first phase III study of ipilimumab, sponsored by Bristol-Meyers Squibb, began enrolling patients in September 2004. The trial enrolled 676 HLA-A*0201⁺ patients with pretreated, unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. The patients were randomized 3:1:1 to receive either

ipilimumab with gp100 peptide vaccine, ipilimumab alone, or gp100 alone. The gp100 peptide had demonstrated effectiveness in previous phase II trials in melanoma, particularly when combined with ipilimumab [56–58, 160]. Ipilimumab was dosed at 3 mg/kg every 3 weeks for four doses. Patients were not routinely offered maintenance therapy; however, those who progressed after responding to therapy or who had stable disease after 12 weeks were allowed "reinduction" therapy. The primary endpoint of the trial was OS. The trial demonstrated an OS benefit in all patients who received ipilimumab (median OS: 10.0 months for ipilimumab with gp100, 10.0 months for ipilimumab alone, and 6.4 months for gp100 alone; p < 0.003). There was no difference in survival in patients who received ipilimumab with gp100 and those who received ipilimumab alone. There were four cases of complete responses and multiple cases of long-term disease control in patients who received ipilimumab. Approximately, 60% of patients treated with ipilimumab experienced some irAE, with the rates of serious irAEs (\geq grade 3) of 10–15% in the ipilimumab groups [50]. Of the 31 patients who met criteria for and received "reinduction" therapy (progression after complete or partial response or stable disease), 19% achieved a complete or partial response and 68% achieved disease control with similar toxicity to the original induction therapy [161]. Based on this study, ipilimumab achieved FDA approval at a dose of 3.0 mg/kg to treat unresectable stage III and stage IV melanoma.

When ipilimumab was approved for therapy, it generated considerable interest because it represented a therapeutic success for nonspecific immunostimulation, a new modality in cancer treatment. In addition to this, it raised hope for future successes for cancer immunotherapy, particularly coming on the heels of the FDA approval of another cancer immunotherapy, sipuleucel T (Provenge; Dendreon, Seattle, WA), the first therapeutic cellular immunotherapy to prove effective in phase III trials [5, 6]. It gave hope to clinicians treating and patients with metastatic melanoma, as this was the first therapy to show an overall survival benefit in a randomized, phase III trial for metastatic melanoma [162]. Significant questions remain and are currently under evaluation regarding the treatment of melanoma with ipilimumab. As discussed previously, a randomized, double-blind phase II trial comparing the dosing of ipilimumab demonstrated the superiority of 10 mg/kg dosing over 3 mg/kg dosing (used in the phase III trial and currently approved) in pretreated patients [163]. This data was not available at the initiation of the phase III trial.

The randomized, double-blind, multicenter phase III trial comparing 10 mg/kg versus 3 mg/ kg ipilimumab in 727 patients with previously untreated or previously treated unresectable stage III/IV melanoma without previous treatment with BRAF inhibitors or immune checkpoint inhibitors showed a significant overall survival advantage with 10 mg/kg therapy over 3 mg/kg therapy (15.7 vs. 11.5 months, p = 0.04). The 10 mg/kg group did demonstrate a higher frequency of treatment-related adverse events and adverse events leading to discontinuation [164].

An additional question raised by the previous trials is the duration of treatment. Many of the previous phase II trials included maintenance dosing every 3 months after completion of the "induction" phase [52, 153, 163, 165]. The phase III trial of ipilimumab monotherapy applied a somewhat different approach, using "reinduction" therapy, in which the patients were redosed every 3 weeks for four doses if they had evidence of progression after initial response to treatment. Both long-term dosing schedules appear to be well tolerated. It remains to be seen if one is clearly superior. Ipilimumab monotherapy in metastatic melanoma has largely been replaced by combination therapy of ipilimumab with PD-1 inhibitors pembrolizumab and nivolumab. Phase III data for pembrolizumab was obtained in the KEYNOTE-006 study, in which 834 ipilimumabnaïve patients with advanced melanoma were randomized 1:1:1 to receive pembrolizumab 10 mg/kg every 2 weeks or 3 weeks or four doses of ipilimumab 3 mg/kg every 3 weeks. In the final analysis, pembrolizumab in both dosages provided a superior overall survival to ipilimumab at a median follow-up of 22.9 months.

Median overall survival was not reached in either pembrolizumab group and was 16 months in the ipilimumab group. Twenty-four month overall survival was 55% in both the 2 and 3 weeks pembrolizumab dosing group and 43% in the ipilimumab group [138, 166]. In addition, patient-reported health-related quality-of-life scores were superior for patients who received pembrolizumab [167].

Nivolumab was evaluated in a phase III trial in ipilimumab-refractory melanoma patients who had unresectable or metastatic disease, comparing nivolumab to the investigator's choice of chemotherapy. In an analysis after 120 patients were enrolled in the nivolumab arm, there was an objective response rate of 31.7% (95% CI 23.5– 40.8%) in the nivolumab arm versus 10.6% (95% CI 3.5–23.1%) in the chemotherapy arm. Additionally, nivolumab was associated with fewer toxic effects than chemotherapy [132].

Another study, known as CheckMate-066, examined untreated patients in a phase III study in previously untreated melanoma patients without a BRAF mutation and compared nivolumab with dacarbazine. Nivolumab was associated with improved overall survival at 1 year (72.9% vs. 42.1% respectively, p < 0.001) and progression-free survival (median 5.1 vs. 2.2 months, respectively, p < 0.001) [134].

6.6.3 Adjuvant Checkpoint Inhibitors

Ipilimumab was first approved as adjuvant therapy for melanoma due to results from a doubleblind, phase III trial in patients with stage III cutaneous melanoma after resection, who received 10 mg/kg ipilimumab or placebo every 3 weeks for four doses and then every 3 months for up to 3 years.

951 patients were randomized, and median recurrence-free survival was 26.1 months (95% CI 19.3–39.3) in the ipilimumab group vs. 17.1 months (95% CI 13.4–21.6) in the placebo group. In patients who received ipilimumab, 52% discontinued therapy due to adverse events, most commonly gastrointestinal, hepatic, and endocrine [168].

Ipilimumab (10 mg/kg) was compared to nivolumab (3 mg/kg) in resected stage IIIB/IIIC/ IV melanoma patients. 12-month recurrence-free survival was 70.5% (95% CI 66.1–74.5%) in the nivolumab group versus 60.8% (95% CI 56.0– 65.2%) in the ipilimumab group. Grades 3 and 4 treatment-related adverse events were significantly worse in the ipilimumab group (45.9% vs. 14.4% in the nivolumab group), with two deaths in the ipilimumab group. The hazard ratio for death or recurrence favored nivolumab over ipilimumab (HR 0.65, 0.51–0.83, P < 0.001) [169].

Pembrolizumab was evaluated in a phase III double-blind trial in patients with completely resected stage III melanoma. Patients were randomized to receive either 200 mg pembrolizumab IV every 3 weeks for 18 doses or placebo. Pembrolizumab was associated with significantly longer recurrence-free survival at 1 year, 75.4% (95% CI 71.3–78.9) versus 61.0% (56.5–65.1) for placebo. Grades 3–5 trial-related adverse events were reported in 14.7% that received pembrolizumab compared to 3.4% in the placebo group [170].

Combination therapy involving checkpoint inhibitors is an active area of study. Recently, improved survival was observed using ipilimumab in combination with nivolumab in latestage melanoma [129]. This will be covered in more detail in a later section.

6.7 Checkpoint Inhibitors as Combination Therapy

While CTLA-4 blockade, specifically ipilimumab, has found success as monotherapy in metastatic melanoma, and more trials are underway to test its effectiveness in a variety of malignancies and different clinical scenarios, its greatest potential may lie in combining it with other antineoplastic agents. The hope is that by combining CTLA-4 blocking therapy with other antineoplastic therapies that carry different toxicity profiles, a synergistic effect of the agents will be achieved. Recognizing these issues, researchers have been actively pursuing combination therapy with CTLA-4 blockade since its inception. The primary areas of research focus on combining CTLA-4 blockade with chemotherapy, radiation, surgery, and other immunotherapy.

6.7.1 Checkpoint Inhibitors and Chemotherapy

Given the known immunosuppressive effects of most chemotherapeutic agents, it has been thought that combining chemotherapy with immunotherapy would be unsuccessful. However, there is increasing evidence for a possible synergistic role between the two modalities. The immune system appears to play an important role in antitumor activity of chemotherapy, an effect which may be further augmented by immune checkpoint blockade [171, 172]. In murine models of mesothelioma, CTLA-4 blockade given between cycles of chemotherapy has been demonstrated to increase tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and inflammatory cytokines and inhibit cancer cell repopulation [173]. Additionally, chemotherapy, when given appropriately, may enhance the effect of specific immunotherapy [174]. Evidence from clinical trials reveals that combining chemotherapy with cancer vaccination can be more effective than either therapy alone [175–177]. The mechanisms by which chemotherapy may increase anticancer immunity include reduction of immunosuppressive influences by decreasing tumor mass, inducing the expression of TAAs on the cell surface, exposing the immune system to TAAs through cell death, and "resetting" the immune posture through depletion of inhibitory cell populations (i.e., Tregs and myeloid-derived suppressor cells) [171]. Indeed, there is growing evidence that the success of certain chemotherapy regimens is dependent on the drug's ability to cause immunogenic cell death of tumors, where TAAs are presented in the appropriate context to elicit a broader immune response [178]. While this is a promising area for future development, clearly the timing of drug administration, chemotherapeutic regimen used, and dosing are integrally important to successful application. Highly dosed cytotoxic treatment has the

potential to quash a developing therapeutic immune response. Optimizing these factors will be necessary in future trials of combining checkpoint blockade with chemotherapy.

Clinical trials have been performed combining chemotherapy with CTLA-4 blockade. A randomized phase II trial testing the combination of chemotherapy with ipilimumab was conducted in patients with treatment-naïve metastatic melanoma. Seventy-two patients with unresectable, metastatic melanoma were randomized to receive ipilimumab at 3 mg/kg every 4 weeks for four doses with dacarbazine compared to ipilimumab monotherapy. The trial demonstrated an increased objective response rate (14.3% vs. 5.4%, by RECIST criteria) and increased median OS (14.3 vs. 11.4 months) for the combination therapy group, although neither reached statistical significance due to the smaller number of patients. Toxicity was higher in the combination group, including $17.1\% \ge$ grade 3 irAEs compared to 7.7% in the monotherapy arm [179].

Based on these results, the concept was tested in a randomized phase III trial evaluating ipilimumab with dacarbazine versus dacarbazine alone [163]. Additionally, based on the results of the phase II ipilimumab monotherapy trial that showed a benefit of higher dosing, 10 mg/kg of ipilimumab was used in combination with dacarbazine. Five hundred two patients were enrolled and randomized 1:1 to receive ipilimumab plus dacarbazine every 3 weeks for four doses followed by dacarbazine every 3 weeks until week 22 or placebo plus dacarbazine at the same schedule. Patients with stable disease or RECIST criteria objective responses were able to receive maintenance ipilimumab or placebo every 12 weeks. Of note, based on emerging consensus from previous work with CTLA-4 blockade and other immunotherapy, the primary endpoint was changed, with FDA approval, from progressionfree survival to OS prior to unblinding of the treatment groups or data analysis [152, 180]. Ultimately, the trial showed that patients who received the combination of ipilimumab with dacarbazine survived longer (11.2 months) compared to dacarbazine alone (9.2 months, p < 0.001). The difference became more

pronounced with time, as the combination arm had 20.8% of patients alive at 3 years compared to 12.2% in the chemotherapy only arm. Toxicities were greater in the combination arm and also greater than in many of the previous ipilimumab studies (56% \geq grade 3), likely secondary to the higher dose (10 mg/kg) of ipilimumab used as well as the addition of chemotherapy. Interestingly, the toxicity profile was different. There were lower rates of gastrointestinal toxicities, such as diarrhea and colitis, and endocrine toxicity but a higher rate of hepatic toxicity compared with previous ipilimumab trials. No treatment-related death was reported [53]. Differences may reflect the effect of the combination therapy; however, clinician's experience managing the drug may have affected the outcome as well. Based on the results of this study, the combination of ipilimumab and dacarbazine is approved as the first-line therapy for unresectable melanoma.

However, the potential for unanticipated toxicity exists with combining CTLA-4 blockade, particularly with other targeted therapies. Initial results from a phase I study of combination therapy with both ipilimumab (dosed at 3 mg/kg) and vemurafenib, a BRAF inhibitor approved for treatment of BRAF-V600E-mutated melanoma, demonstrated an unacceptably high level of hepatotoxicity, leading to early termination of the trial [181].

Additional trials of combination chemotherapy and ipilimumab were conducted in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and small cell lung cancer (SCLC). Advanced-stage NSCLC carries a poor prognosis with a median survival of 8-12 months despite first-line chemotherapy [172, 182]. In a phase II trial, 204 patients with stage IIIB or IV NSCLC were enrolled in a randomized, doubleblind trial of ipilimumab plus chemotherapy (paclitaxel and carboplatin) given concurrently, ipilimumab plus chemotherapy given phased with two doses of chemotherapy given prior to starting ipilimumab and chemotherapy given together, or placebo plus chemotherapy. Ipilimumab was dosed at 10 mg/kg every 3 weeks for up to 18 weeks with the option for maintenance therapy (or maintenance placebo) every 12 weeks. The primary endpoint was immune-related progression-free survival (irPFS). The concept of immune-response criteria for immunotherapy in cancer (different from classic World Health Organization RECIST criteria) came from observations with ipilimumab and other immunotherapies (discussed further below) [152]. The trial showed improved irPFS with phased ipilimumab and chemotherapy (median: 5.7 months, HR: 0.72, p = 0.05), while concurrent ipilimumab and chemotherapy did not reach statistical significance (median: 5.5 months, HR: 081, p = 0.13) compared to the regimen (median control 4.6 months). Improvement was also noted in PFS by WHO criteria (p = 0.02), and an improvement in OS by 3.9 months (p = 0.23) was observed for phased ipilimumab over chemotherapy alone. Overall toxicity was similar across the treatment arms; however, there was more severe toxicity $(\text{grade} \ge 3)$ in the combination arms. A phase III trial was conducted using phased ipilimumab and chemotherapy in patients with squamous NSCLC, the group that derived the greatest benefit in subset analyses [154]; however, the addition of ipilimumab to first-line chemotherapy consisting of paclitaxel and carboplatin did not prolong OS [183].

A similar phase II trial was conducted in patients with extensive disease-small cell lung cancer (ED-SCLC). Chemotherapy remains the first-line and only effective therapy in this disease process with a median overall survival of 8–11 months [184]. Eligible patients (n = 130) were randomized to receive concurrent therapy with ipilimumab and chemotherapy (paclitaxel and carboplatin), the phased combination, or placebo with chemotherapy. In this trial, again the phased combination of ipilimumab and chemotherapy was superior with an improvement in irPFS (median: 6.4 months, p = 0.03), while concurrent therapy did not improve irPFS (median: 5.7 months, p = 0.11), compared to the control arm (median: 5.3 months). There was no significant difference in mWHO PFS or OS. The combination of ipilimumab plus etoposide and platinum chemotherapy

versus etoposide and platinum alone has been evaluated in a phase III trial. 954 patients were randomized with no significant OS benefit (11.0 vs. 10.9 months), with increased rates of diarrhea, colitis, and rash in the ipilimumab group [185].

The combination of ipilimumab has been further studied in a phase II trial in prostate cancer. Forty-three patients with CRPC were randomized to receive either ipilimumab monotherapy at 3 mg/kg every 4 weeks for four doses or ipilimumab (dosed the same) with a single dose of docetaxel at the start of therapy. The number of responses to therapy were small with three patients having a decrease of >50% in each arm [186]. However, this study may be limited by underdosing of both the ipilimumab and docetaxel, concurrent (instead of phased) administration of the two drugs, as well as the small number of patients tested.

The combination of tremelimumab and sunitinib, an oral small-molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitor, was tested in a phase I dose escalation trial in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Unexpectedly, the trial demonstrated a high (4/28 patients) rate of sudden onset grade 3 renal failure in addition to other toxicity associated with CTLA-4 blockade. Further testing of this combination at doses of tremelimumab >6 mg/kg with sunitinib was not recommended by the study authors [187].

6.7.1.1 PD-1/PD-L1 Inhibitors and Chemotherapy

Pembrolizumab in combination with chemotherapy recently received FDA approved based on results of a double-blind phase III trial in which 616 patients with metastatic NSCLC without sensitizing EGFT or ALK mutations with no previous treatment were randomized to receive pemetrexed and a platinum-based drug plus either 200 mg pembrolizumab or placebo every 3 weeks for 4 cycles, followed by maintenance pemetrexed and pembrolizumab or placebo for 35 cycles. At a median follow-up of 10.5 months, estimated overall survival at 12 months was 69.2% (95% CI, 64.1–73.8) in the pembrolizumab group versus 49.4% (95% CI, 42.1–56.2) in the placebo group, corresponding to a hazard ratio for death of 0.49 (95% CI, 0.38–0.64, p < 0.001). In addition, progression-free survival was significantly greater in the pembrolizumab arm: 8.8 versus 4.9 months. Adverse events of grade 3 or higher were comparable between arms (67.2% for pembrolizumab vs. 65.8% for placebo) [188].

There are no current FDA indications for nivolumab in combination with chemotherapy; however, multiple clinical trials are evaluating this (NCT02477826, NCT03101566).

6.7.2 Checkpoint Inhibitors and Radiation

Much like chemotherapy, there is evidence that the local and systemic effects of radiation therapy can increase the effectiveness of immunotherapy, in general, and CTLA-4 blockade, specifically. Radiation therapy damages tumor cells that are in the path of the focused energy, which, like chemotherapy, can result in cell death and antigen cross-presentation, leading to an effective, targeted immune response toward remaining tumor cells [189]. Radiation-induced cell damage may lead to several cellular changes that promote effective presentation of TAAs such as the release of high mobility box group 1 (HMBG1), which signals migration of immune cells to the tumor microenvironment, and upregulation of MHC I complexes, Fas, and ICAM-1, all of which increase susceptibility to T-cell-mediated death [189–192]. Additionally, localized radiation does not typically produce the same level of lymphodepletion and immunosuppression associated with high-dose chemotherapy. As with chemotherapy, reduction in the mass of a viable tumor may help decrease cancer-related immunosuppression. All of these factors make the combination of radiation with immunotherapy appealing [193]. The concept of combining radiation with immune checkpoint blockade is particularly attractive. Unlike more specific, directed immunotherapy (cancer vaccines), CTLA-4 blockade helps overcome cancer immunosuppression, but ultimately relies on the body's preexisting immunity toward a neoplasm. Radiation, by damaging cancer cells and releasing a wide array of TAAs in an inflammatory context, especially with immunosuppression checked, may allow the immune system to mount a response that is appropriate both for the individual and the tumor.

There is considerable preclinical data that supports the combination of CTLA-4 blockade and radiation. In one study, a mouse model of poorly immunogenic mammary carcinoma, 4T1, was treated with control IgG, CLTA-4 blocking IgG (9H10), radiation therapy, or a combination of 9H10 IgG and radiation. CTLA-4 blockade alone did not affect tumor growth or mouse survival. Radiation therapy slowed tumor growth but did not affect survival. The combination of CTLA-4 blockade and radiation therapy inhibited metastases and increased survival compared to the control [193]. Subsequent studies in this model revealed that treatment with the combination in mice deficient in invariant natural killer (NK) T-cell lymphocytes led to an even more effective response with some mice becoming disease-free and resistant to tumor rechallenge, highlighting the important role for this cell type in regulation of cancer immune responses [194]. Finally, an additional study in TSA mouse mammary carcinoma and MCA38 mouse colon carcimodels again demonstrated noma the effectiveness of combining radiation and CTLA-4 blocking antibody; moreover, they showed that the use of a fractionated radiation schedule (but not single dose radiation) along with CTLA-4 blockade could significantly inhibit tumor foci out of the radiation field, a phenomenon known as the abscopal effect [195].

The abscopal effect refers to the regression of tumors in remote areas following localized radiation of tumors. This phenomenon has been documented in melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, and lymphoma [196–198]. Several cases of this occurrence have been documented in patients receiving ipilimumab. In one notable case, a patient with recurrent melanoma with paraspinal, right hilar lymphadenopathy, and splenic metastases was enrolled in an ipilimumab monotherapy trial in September 2009. She received treatment at 10 mg/kg dosing per protocol with slow progression of her disease over the subsequent 15 months. In December 2010, she received directed, external beam radiation to her symptomatic paraspinal lesion followed by an additional dose of ipilimumab in February 2011. Surprisingly, follow-up imaging revealed significant regression of metastatic lesions outside the radiation field, which remained stable at minimal disease for at least 10 months after her radiation treatment. Along with this clinical effect, the patient was noted to have a marked increase in peripheral antibodies to the tumor antigen NY-ESO-1, an increase in ICOShigh T cells, and a decrease in myeloid derived suppressor cells [199]. Similar cases of abscopal regression of metastatic melanoma in patients on ipilimumab have since been reported [200].

A phase I/II study examined the effects of ipilimumab with radiation therapy (RT) in patients with metastatic CRPC. Patients were treated with dose escalation ipilimumab monotherapy (3, 5, or 10 mg/kg) or ipilimumab (3 mg/kg or 10 mg/ kg) with external beam RT, although the trials were not designed to directly compare the two arms. Ipilimumab was given every 3 weeks for a total of 4 weeks [201]. An overall of 71 patients were treated; 33 patients were treated in the dose escalation phase, and the 10 mg/kg arm was expanded to a total of 50 patients. At the 10 mg/ kg dosing level, 16 were given ipilimumab monotherapy and 34 received ipilimumab with radiation. In the 10 mg/kg dosing group, there were four (25%) PSA declines >50% in the ipilimumab monotherapy arm and four (12%) PSA declines >50% in the ipilimumab with radiation group; however, a higher proportion of patients in the monotherapy group were chemotherapy naïve. A phase III trial examining radiation with ipilimumab compared to radiation alone in advanced CRPC has not shown a difference in overall survival [202].

A retrospective study was performed analyzing patients treated with pembrolizumab for NSCLC on the phase I KEYNOTE-001 study to determine the effect of previous radiotherapy on clinical outcomes. Of 98 patients that received pembrolizumab, 43% received previous radiotherapy. At a median follow-up of 32.5 months for surviving patients, progression-free survival was significantly increased in patients that received previous radiotherapy (4.4 months; 95% CI, 2.1–8.6) versus no radiotherapy (2.1 months; 95% CI, 1.6–2.3), corresponding to a hazard ratio of 0.56 (95% CI 0.34–0.91), p = 0.019. Median overall survival was increased in patients who received any radiotherapy (10.7 months; 95% CI, 6.5–18.9) versus no radiotherapy (5.3 months; 95% CI, 2.7–7.7), corresponding to a hazard ratio of HR 0.58 (95% CI 0.36–0.94), p = 0.026 [203].

There are no current FDA indications for PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors in combination with radiation; however, multiple clinical trials are attempting to answer this question (NCT02830594 in pembrolizumab, NCT03148327 in durvalumab).

6.8 Combination Immunotherapy

Results from trials of CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathway blocking mAbs as monotherapy or in combination with conventional therapies are encouraging. Immune checkpoint blockade has delivered clinical responses in patients with limited or no therapeutic options remaining. However, in all of the immune checkpoint blockade trials covered, only a minority of patients have responded which is usually transient. It is true that the vast majority of the patients treated in these trials have advanced disease, are immunosuppressed, and have limited time and options remaining. Targeting earlier stage disease and combining immune checkpoint blockade with other therapies will undoubtedly yield more impressive results. However, it is naïve to think that targeting any one checkpoint will be a "silver bullet" therapy. Just as cancer, under immunologic pressure, learns to evade the immune system to become a clinically evident disease initially, as we modulate coinhibitory and costimulatory receptors, some cancers will adapt to escape through alternative pathways. Combining active immunization (cancer vaccines) with checkpoint blockade may ultimately prove effective; nonetheless, initial results have not been convincing. Other techniques under investigation, targeting multiple checkpoints simultaneously or in sequence, may limit the escape routes.

6.8.1 CTLA-4 Blockade and Vaccination

Early on in the development of CTLA-4 blocking therapy, anti-CTLA-4 antibodies were combined with cancer vaccines in preclinical models [204]. In multiple cancer animal models, tumors, which were poorly responsive to CTLA-4 blocking therapy alone or active immunotherapy alone, responded significantly better to the combination of the two [37, 204–216]. These studies have helped elucidate the function and significance of the CTLA-4 receptor and have led to clinical trials in patients.

Some of the first human trials of ipilimumab used a combination of peptide vaccines from gp100, a tumor-associated antigen expressed by the majority of malignant melanomas [217]. Gp100 peptides have been shown to be immunogenic and elicit an antigen-specific T-cell response in the majority of melanoma patients [160]. One peptide, gp100:209–217(210M), when combined with IL-2 therapy, has also been shown in a randomized phase III trial to significantly increase clinical response and PFS compared to IL-2 alone in HLA*A0201⁺ metastatic melanoma patients [218]. Three phase I and II trials were conducted using ipilimumab combined with gp100 in unresectable melanoma patients. While these trials did not directly compare the efficacy of the addition of the peptide vaccines to ipilimumab monotherapy, they did show impressive response rates and manageable toxicity [56–58]. Based on these (and other) results, ipilimumab proceeded to the phase III trial comparing ipilimumab monotherapy, ipilimumab plus two gp100 peptides (gp100:209-217 and gp100:280-288), or the gp100 peptides alone. As previously detailed, the trial demonstrated a survival advantage for ipilimumab therapy but also showed that the addition of the peptide vaccine to ipilimumab offered no improvement over ipilimumab monotherapy

[50]. It is not clear why the peptide vaccine did not prove efficacious in this setting, particularly given its proven efficacy when given with IL-2 therapy in a similar patient population. There is speculation that CTLA-4 blockade may augment CD4⁺ lymphocyte activity more, while gp100 peptides preferentially generate a CD8⁺ lymphocyte response, a hypothesis that has mixed preclinical data to support it. Another proposed possibility is that the antitumor effect of ipilimumab may stem largely from its ability to deplete intratumoral Tregs, a mechanism which may not function synergistically with MHC class I peptide vaccination [34]. Certainly, there are other possibilities to explain the results; further studies will be necessary to clarify.

Additional trials on combining CTLA-4 blocking antibodies with cancer vaccines have been conducted in melanoma and prostate cancer. In melanoma, the combination of multiple tumorassociated antigen peptides (gp100, MART-1, tyrosinase) emulsified with immunoadjuvant (Montanide ISA 51) has been combined with ipilimumab in a dose escalation trial [62]. Additionally, in prostate cancer, ipilimumab has been given in phase I trials in combination with Tricom-PSA (PROSTVAC; Bavarian Nordic Immunotherapeutics, Mountain View, CA), a poxvirus-based vaccine that expresses transgenes for PSA and costimulatory molecules, and GVAX (Aduro Biotech; Berkeley, CA, USA), a GM-CSFtransduced allogenic prostate cancer vaccine [59, 219]. In all of these phase I trials, ipilimumab combined with cancer vaccination was found to elicit a cancer-specific immune response, a low rate of clinical response, and toxicity compared with ipilimumab monotherapy. Further trials will be necessary to prove the efficacy of these combinations and multiple other combinations, which are currently under investigation (NCT01810016, NCT01302496, NCT01838200).

6.8.2 PD-1/PD-L1 and Vaccination

Nivolumab has been tested in combination with ISA 101, a synthetic long-peptide vaccine directed against human papilloma virus (HPV)

16 in patients with incurable oropharyngeal cancer. The phase II trial accrued 22 patients who received 100mcg/peptide ISA 101 on days 1, 22, and 50, plus nivolumab 3 mg/kg IV every 2 weeks for up to 1 year. Eight patients demonstrated a clinical response, with two complete responses and eight partial responses, corresponding to an overall response rate of 36%, greater than the historical nivolumab monotherapy rate of 16% [220]. At a median follow-up of 8.6 months, median progression-free survival was 2.7 months (95% CI, 2.3–8.0). Median overall survival was not reached [221].

Nivolumab has also been tested with or without a peptide vaccine in a phase I study in 90 patients with ipilimumab-naive or refractory unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. Nivolumab was dosed at 1 mg/kg, 3 mg/kg, or 10 mg/kg and was well tolerated at all doses. The median duration of response was 8.1 months, and the overall response rate was 25% [222].

Ongoing studies include PD-1/PD-L1 and vaccination in melanoma (NCT03047928), nonsquamous non-small cell lung cancer (NCT03380871), and multiple solid tumors (NCT02897765, NCT02432963).

6.8.3 CTLA-4 Blockade and Cytokine Therapy

Another area of combined immunotherapy undergoing active investigation is combining CTLA-4 blockade with cytokine therapy. IL-2 therapy has been used as adjuvant treatment for melanoma and renal cell carcinoma with benefit in a small subset of patients [223]. IL-2 stimulates T-cell activation, as does CTLA-4 blockade, but through different mechanisms. A phase I/II dose escalation/expansion trial combining ipilimumab with IL-2 was conducted in metastatic melanoma patients. The trial demonstrated a 22% (5/36) tumor response rate and toxicity similar to prior ipilimumab studies [61]. There are multiple ongoing trials examining the combination of ipilimumab and high-dose interferon alpha, the cytokine therapy used most frequently as adjuvant therapy in melanoma (NCT01274338 ongoing, NCT01708941 ongoing). GM-CSF has been used in combination with ipilimumab in a phase I dose escalation trial in CRPC demonstrating an immunologic response to treatment as well as a favorable PSA response in the highest dosing cohort (ipilimumab 3 mg/kg and GM-CSF 250 mg every 4 weeks) with expected toxicities. A recent randomized trial pairing ipilimumab with GM-CSF versus ipilimumab alone in patients with unresectable stage III/IV melanoma demonstrated longer overall survival (17.5 vs. 12.7 months), with no different in progressionfree survival [47]. Additional trials of ipilimumab and GM-CSF in CRPC and melanoma are currently underway, NCT01530984).

A recent phase II trial compared talimogene laherparepvec (a genetically modified herpessimplex virus that expresses GM-CSF) with and without ipilimumab in patients with unresectable stage IIIb and IV melanoma. One hundred ninetyeight patients were randomized, with a 39% objective response rate (ORR) in the combination arm compared to 18% ORR in the ipilimumab monotherapy arm (OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.5–55, p = 0.002). Additionally, more patients in the combination arm demonstrated regression of visceral lesions (52% vs. 23%), with severe toxicity comparable between arms (45% vs. 35%) [46].

6.8.4 Combination Checkpoint Blockade

There is ample preclinical data supporting dual checkpoint blockade in murine cancer models [215, 224–228]. Based on these principles, investigators have initiated trials of dual checkpoint blockade in humans.

Preliminary phase I results of combination of nivolumab (PD-1 blocking mAb) and ipilimumab (CLTA-4 blocking mAb) in patients with advanced melanoma demonstrated the potential of this combination [229]. This led to a multicenter randomized controlled phase III trial, the CheckMate 067 study. This trial enrolled patients with previously untreated stage III (unresectable) or stage IV melanoma and randomized them (1:1:1) to ipilimumab (3 mg/kg every 3 weeks for four doses) and nivolumab (1 mg/kg every 3 weeks for four doses followed by 3 mg/ kg every 2 weeks), nivolumab (3 mg/kg every 2 weeks), or ipilimumab (3 mg/kg every 3 weeks for four doses). The overall survival rate at 36 months was 58% in the nivolumab-ipilimumab combination group, 52% in the nivolumab group, and 34% in the ipilimumab alone group. At 36 months follow-up, the median overall survival had not been reached in the combination group and was 37.6 months in the nivolumab group and 19.9 months in the ipilimumab group, corresponding to a hazard ratio for death with nivolumab plus ipilimumab versus ipilimumab of $0.55 \ (p < 0.001)$ and $0.65 \ (p < 0.001)$ for death with nivolumab versus ipilimumab. Treatmentrelated adverse effects of grades 3 and 4 occurred in 59% of the combination group, 21% receiving nivolumab, and 28% receiving ipilimumab [129].

6.9 Other Checkpoint Pathways Under Development

6.9.1 Lymphocyte Activation Gene-3 (LAG-3)

Lymphocyte activation gene-3 (LAG-3, CD223) is an additional immune coinhibitory checkpoint molecule under investigation for therapeutic purposes in cancer. LAG-3 was first discovered in the 1990s on activated T lymphocytes and NK cells [230]. LAG-3 is structurally similar to CD4, and, like CD4, binds to MHC II complexes on antigen-presenting cells (APCs), but with greater affinity. While some early functional data from experiments is mixed, it appears that LAG-3 plays a predominantly inhibitory role in T-cell activation, while promoting APC activation at the same time [114, 231–235].

LAG-3 is expressed on a subset of Treg cells that secrete immunosuppressive cytokines and are more potent than other LAG-3 negative cells of the Treg phenotype (CD4+, CD25highFoxP3+). They are preferentially expanded in patients with cancer. LAG-3 ligation on CD8⁺ lymphocytes inhibits lymphocyte function and proliferation, independent of Tregs [18]. Notably, high expression levels of LAG-3 are seen on tumor infiltrating lymphocytes and, like PD-1, appear to represent an anergic phenotype. In contrast to its coinhibitory function on T cells, when soluble LAG-3 binds MHC II complexes on dendritic cells, it promotes activation and maturation [235–238].

Just as with CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways, tumor cells are able to utilize the LAG-3 pathway to escape host immunity. MHC class II molecule (LAG-3 ligand) expression is sometimes upregulated to varying degrees in a variety of cancers and can be associated with a worse prognosis. Increased expression of LAG-3 on TILs, corresponding with increased CD8+ T-cell anergy, has been noted in Hodgkins lymphoma, melanoma, and ovarian cancer [239, 240]. Additionally, MHC class II expressing melanoma cells (but not MHC class II negative cells) were resistant to FAS-mediated apoptosis when exposed to LAG-3 transfected cells or soluble LAG-3, indicating a bidirectional signaling in the LAG-3 pathway that effects both lymphocytes and tumor cells [114, 239–241].

Removing or blocking the LAG-3 pathway improves immune-mediated antitumor effects. Blocking LAG-3 with mAbs has been shown to increase CTL expansion and improve CD4+ lymphocyte cytokine production. In melanoma, anti-LAG-3 mAb blockade improved the antitumor function of tolerized CD8+ lymphocytes when coupled with a viral cancer vaccine [242]. In murine cancer models, PD-1^{-/-} LAG-3^{-/-} knockout mice were capable of rejecting tumors that PD-1 or LAG-3 alone knockout mice could not. It is worth noting that LAG-3^{-/-} knockout mice display a very mild phenotype, similar to PD-1^{-/-} knockout mice, while PD-1-/- LAG-3-/- knockout mice develop lethal autoimmunity at about 10 weeks of age, underscoring the potential toxicity of dual blockade therapy [225, 227, 243]. Similar to the knockout mice, dual mAb blockade of PD-1 and LAG-3 was able to cause complete regression in several established tumor models in mice, while blockade of the individual receptors was not [227, 243].

Since LAG-3 binding of MHC II complexes on APC promotes activation and maturation of the

APC, soluble LAG-3 protein has been tested as an immunoadjuvant in cancer. Theoretically, the unbound LAG-3 can promote APC activity while, at the same time, can prevent LAG-3-mediated T-cell inhibition through competitive binding. Supporting this, soluble LAG-3 in the serum of breast cancer patients was associated with improved survival. Based on these findings, a fusion protein of the extracellular portion of LAG-3 and the Fc portion of IgG1 were recognized as IMP321. IMP321 has been tested as a vaccine immunoadjuvant where it was well tolerated and produced encouraging immunologic results. IMP321 has also undergone testing as monotherapy in a phase I dose escalation trial in 21 patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. The drug produced no significant adverse events and was associated with significantly more disease stability at higher dosing. More recently, IMP321 was tested at two different doses in a phase I trial together with gemcitabine in 12 patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. IMP321 again did not produce significant adverse events but also failed to show any change in immunologic markers after therapy was given [244–248].

LAG-3 has been shown to be synergistic with PD-1/PD-L1. In a murine model, dual anti-LAG-3/anti-PD-1 antibody treatment cured most mice of established tumors that were resistant to single antibody treatment [48] and demonstrated that LAG-3 is required for long-term peripheral CD8 but not CD4 immune tolerance [49]. High level dual LAG-3/PD-1 expression is largely restricted to tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes which are likely advantageous due to focused "attack" instead of nonspecific or self-antigen-specific immune responses.

Ongoing studies of LAG-3/IMP321 are being performed in glioblastoma (NCT02658981), metastatic breast cancer (NCT02614833), and hematologic neoplasms (NCT02061761).

6.9.2 4-1BB

4-1BB (CD137), unlike the inhibitory molecules CTLA-4, PD-1, and LAG-3, is a co-stimulatory molecule. It is a member of the tumor necrosis fac-

tor receptor (TNFR) superfamily that is inducibly expressed on activated CD8+ and CD4+ lymphocytes (including Tregs), NK cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, neutrophils, and eosinophils, as well as in some tumor tissue. The 4-1BB receptor is bound by the 4-1BB ligand (4-1BBL) expressed on antigen-presenting cells. 4-1BB functions as a costimulatory signal after a T-cell receptor is bound by an antigen-MHC ligand along with CD28 costimulation to promote CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocyte proliferation, activation, and protection against activation induced cell death. 4-1BB ligation is able to costimulate CD8⁺ lymphocytes to activation even in the absence of CD28-B7-1/ B7-1 signaling and prevent or reverse established anergy in lymphocytes. Additionally, 4-1BB appears to function across both the innate and adaptive immune system as it is able to increase the activity of NK cells which, once activated, are further able to stimulate lymphocyte function. 4-1BB also appears to be functionally important in inhibiting Treg function and promoting antigen priming by dendritic cells. Interestingly, 4-1BB activation via agonistic mAbs is able to prevent or treat antibody-mediated autoimmunity in mouse and primate models by increasing CD4+ (but not CD8⁺) lymphocyte anergy, a process that is not completely understood [249–258].

Preclinical data with agonistic 4-1BB mAbs has demonstrated a robust antitumor effect. In multiple mouse models, mAb treatment has led to increased tumor-specific CD8+ lymphocyte response and substantial tumor regression. Additionally, melanoma cells transfected to express 4-1BB agonist single chain Fv fragments and given to mice as an autologous tumor cell vaccine led to rejection of poorly immunogenic tumors. Treatments were well tolerated in animal models, although polyclonal T lymphocyte accumulation in the liver was noted. Combination of agonist 4-1BB mAb treatment with immunotherapy appears to function synergistically with immunotherapy and chemotherapy. To further test its efficacy and safety, one 4-1BB mAb, BMS 663513, was tested in primates along with a prostate-specific antigen DNA vaccine where it demonstrated encouraging immunologic results [228, 249, 252, 254, 259–266].

Two mAbs have moved into clinical testing in humans. Urelumab (BMS-663513;Bristol Myers-Squibb, New York, NY) is a fully human agonist 4-1BB mAb that was given to advanced cancer patients in a dose escalation trial. Initial results from 83 patients with melanoma (54 patients), renal cell carcinoma (15 patients), ovarian cancer (13 patients), and prostate cancer (1 patient) who were given 0.3-15 mg/kg of the mAb with expansion cohorts at the 1, 3, or 10 mg/kg level of dosing have been reported. Results revealed that there were significant toxicities including grade 3 or 4 transaminitis in 11% and grade 3 or 4 neutropenia in 5% of patients. There were three objective partial responses in melanoma patients and several other patients with stable disease along with increased levels of peripheral activated T lymphocytes and interferon in posttreatment biopsies [267]. A phase II trial in advanced melanoma was conducted; however, as the incidence of grade IV hepatitis was higher than expected, the trial was terminated. Several other trials were terminated at that time. Phase I trials have been performed in which urelumab was given as monotherapy in advanced solid malignancies or non-Hodgkins lymphoma (NCT01775631, completed, results not reported) and in combination with rituximab in non-Hodgkins lymphoma or chronic lymphocytic leukemia (NCT0177563, study withdrawn). A second drug, PF-05082566 (Pfizer, New York, NY), is currently recruiting for a phase I trial as monotherapy in solid tumors or in combination with rituximabin non-Hodgkinslymphoma (NCT01307267).

Multiple studies are in progress evaluating combination therapy with urelumab and nivolumab including urothelial carcinoma (NCT02845323), metastatic melanoma (NCT02652455), and multiple advanced tumor types (NCT02534506). Hepatotoxicity appears to be the limiting factor with 4-1BB monotherapy, but combination therapy is promising.

6.9.3 OX-40

OX-40 (CD134, TNFRSF4) is another member of the TNFR superfamily which is a costimulatory receptor of particular interest in cancer. Like

many of the previously described immune checkpoint pathways, OX-40 functions to modulate T-cell activation and proliferation in the setting of inflammation to ensure an adequate immune response, but prevent autoimmunity or unnecessary tissue damage. OX-40 is predominantly expressed on activated CD4+ lymphocytes; however lesser degrees of expression is observed on other cells such as activated CD8⁺ lymphocytes, Tregs, NK cells, and neutrophils. The only known ligand to OX-40 is the OX-40 ligand (OX-40L), which is primarily expressed on activated APCs. OX-40 stimulates CD4+ lymphocyte clonal expansion, survival, and cytokine production, particularly in late phases of activation. OX-40 is also important in the generation of functional memory T-cell pools. Signaling through the OX-40 pathway does expand Treg populations, but the expanded cells are functionally impaired with an exhausted phenotype. The function of OX-40 was further shown in transgenic mice engineered to have constitutive T-cell expression of OX-40L. These mice developed expansion of CD4⁺ T-cell (but not CD8⁺ T cell) pools and an autoimmune phenotype. This is in contrast to OX-40L^{-/-} knockout mice or mice treated with OX-40L blocking mAbs, which demonstrate impaired lymphocyte priming but normal lymphocyte localization and humoral immune responses. While OX-40 appears to function primarily through CD4+ lymphocytes, there is evidence that this ultimately leads to augmented CD8⁺ lymphocyte function as well [268–283].

In cancer, agonistic therapies to the OX-40 pathway have proved successful in overcoming cancer immune tolerance. In mouse models, agonist OX-40 mAbs have led to complete regression of established tumors and protective immunity against repeat inoculation. The antitumor effect was dependent on both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocytes. Treatment with agonistic OX-40 mAbs was more effective than blocking CTLA-4 mAbs in generating antigen-specific memory T-cell pools after antigen inoculation. Finally, OX-40 mAbs have been shown to function synergistically with other cancer immunotherapies, surgery, and radiation in murine models. These findings along with observations

that OX-40 has been noted to be relatively overexpressed in tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and lymphocytes from draining lymph nodes from human melanoma, head and neck, and breast cancers led to trials in primates and then humans [273, 284–291].

A mouse agonist OX-40 mAb was used to treat 30 patients with advanced solid tumors in a dose escalation phase I trial that completed enrollment in 2009. The mAb was given as three doses over 5 days along with tetanus toxin and keyhole limpet hemocyanin. Initial results indicate that the treatment was well tolerated with evidence of clinical response in heavily pretreated patients. A humanized agonist OX-40 mAb has been developed and is currently undergoing trials combined with stereotactic radiation therapy in metastatic breast cancer (NCT01642290 in progress), combined with low-dose cyclophosphamide and radiation in metastatic CRPC (NCT01303705, in progress) renal cell carcinoma (NCT03092856), metastatic colorectal cancer (NCT02559024), and head and neck SCC or melanoma (NCT03336606) [54].

A recent study investigating combination therapy of OX-40 agonist alone or in combination with ipilimumab, durvalumab (anti-PD-L1), and rituximab was terminated at the sponsor's discretion (NCT02205333); however, ongoing studies of combination therapy include OX-40 agonists and atezolizumab (NCT02410512) and durvalumab (NCT02221960) in solid tumors [55].

6.9.4 Glucocorticoid-Induced TNFR-Related Protein (GITR)

Glucocorticoid-induced TNFR-related protein (GITR) is a third member of the TNFR superfamily with costimulatory properties. Like OX40 and 4-1BB, it has a low basal expression level on naïve T-lymphocytes, but is significantly upregulated upon activation. It is also expressed constitutively on Tregs and to a lesser degree on NK cells and mast cells, but expression is increased with activation in all cases. Also like OX40 and 4-1BB, GITR is instrumental in modulation of T-cell responses to infection and cancer; however, it operates through non-redundant pathways. GITR is bound by GITR ligand (GITR-L), which is expressed predominantly on APCs after activation, but also at lower levels on endothelial tissue and activated T cells. GITR ligation enhances T-lymphocyte activation, proliferation, resistance to activation-induced cell death, and resistance Treg-mediated to suppression. However, the in vivo effect in immunomodulation may be subtle as GITR-/- knockout mice demonstrate a mild phenotype with differences in response to certain infection and severe inflammatory conditions [292–304].

In preclinical studies, agonistic GITR mAbs were shown to stimulate T lymphocytes and overcome Treg-mediated tolerance. This finding led to a series of experiments in mice that demonstrated agonist GITR mAbs enhance antitumor immunity [107, 290, 305–307]. Agonistic GITR mAbs have also shown to improve the effectiveness of cancer vaccines in animal models. Based on these results, a humanized agonist GITR mAb, TRX518, is being tested in phase I trials in metastatic melanoma and other advanced solid tumors (NCT01239134, still recruiting). Multiple other studies using GITR agonists are in progress in solid tumors (NCT02628574), in combination with checkpoint inhibitors (NCT02553499, NCT02132754, NCT02598960), and using GITRL proteins (NCT02583165).

6.9.5 CD40

CD40 is another costimulatory molecule of interest in cancer immunotherapy. Like OX-40, it is a member of the TNFR superfamily. CD40 is expressed and functionally important on APCs, but it is also found on a broad range of normal and tumor tissue. On cells such as monocytes and dendritic cells, ligation of the CD40 receptor acts to license the cells into mature, active APCs. For example, ligation of CD40 on monocytes and dendritic cells leads to increased survival, increased expression of MHC complexes and costimulatory molecules, and increased cytokine production. In other tissues, CD40 appears to primarily play a role in modulating local inflammation. It is bound primarily by CD40 ligand (CD40L); however, binding by mycobacterial heat shock protein 70 and C4b binding protein has also been identified. CD40L is expressed primarily on active (but not resting) T lymphocytes, in particular, CD4⁺ lymphocytes, although some level of expression has been identified on other cell types. By playing a role in APC maturation, CD40 is also integrally important to lymphocyte priming and activation. Activated CD4⁺ lymphocytes express CD40L which bind to CD40 on APCs, allowing the APCs to mature and effectively cross prime CD8⁺ lymphocytes. The central role of the CD40 pathway in immunity is revealed by X-linked hyper IgM syndrome, a severe immune deficiency characterized by neutropenia, susceptibility to opportunistic infection, and autoimmunity, which is due to genetic mutations in the CD40L gene [308–318].

Interest in the CD40 pathway in cancer has come from observations that CD40 ligation is necessary for immune-mediated destruction of cancer cells and that CD40 is expressed on a variety of malignant tissues and from preclinical trials with CD40 mAbs. Treatment of established tumors in mice with agonistic CD40 mAbs has resulted in impressive immune-mediated tumor regression and protective immunity, while treatment with CD40L blocking mAbs results in abrogation of the antitumor immune response. The mechanism of action for agonistic CD40 mAbs is likely twofold and dependent on tumor CD40 expression level and antibody subtype used. In CD40 expressing tumors, anti-CD-40 IgG1 mAbs are able to bind and induce antibodydependent cytotoxicity (ADCC) of the tumor cells. There is also evidence that high level of ligation of CD40 in certain cancers, particularly multiple myeloma and high-grade B-cell lymphoma, can inhibit cancer growth. The second mechanism of tumor inhibition, which is independent of CD40 expression on tumor cells, is through the immunostimulatory effects of CD40 ligation [319–329].

Multiple strategies have been investigated to therapeutically target CD40 in human malignancy. The first human trials involved treating advanced solid tumors and non-Hodgkins lymphoma with recombinant human CD40L (Avrend; Immunex Corp, Seattle, WA). Treatment was given to 32 patients with dose-limiting toxicity of grade 3 and 4 transaminitis seen with higher dosing. There was evidence of clinical activity with partial responses seen in patients with laryngeal carcinoma and non-Hodgkins lymphoma [330]. More recent efforts have focused on targeted mAb blockade of CD40, with multiple drugs currently under investigation in clinical trials.

CP870,893 (now RO7009789, Selicrelumab) (Pfizer, New York, NY is a fully humanized anti-CD40 IgG2 mAb with strong agonistic properties that has been tested in several clinical trials. Interestingly, CP870,893 with its IgG2 Fc domain has a relatively low binding affinity to human FcgRs when compared to second generation drugs, and may function by binding to a unique epitope on human CD40. It was first given as a single dose, dose escalation phase I trial to 29 patients with advanced malignancy where partial objective responses were noted in 27% (4/15) of melanoma patients but not in other tumor types. A second phase I trial evaluated weekly dosing of CP870,893 in 27 patients with advanced malignancies. Less evidence of clinical benefit was seen with no objective responses observed. CP870,893 was tested in combination with chemotherapy in two trials; in combination with gemcitabine in pancreatic carcinoma and in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel in a variety of advanced malignancies. In these trials partial objective responses were seen in 19% (4/21) and 20% (6/30) of patients, respectively. [327, 331–334].

In all trials, the immunomodulatory properties of the mAb were evident with transient elevation in IL-6 and TNF- α , as well as depletion and stimulation of B lymphocytes. The most common toxicities were cytokine release syndrome (typically grade 1 and 2) and transient elevation of transaminases. Ongoing studies with CP870,893 include additional trials in combination with gemcitabine in advanced pancreatic cancer, and combination trials with peptide vaccines and CTLA-4 blocking tremelimumab in metastatic melanoma (NCT01456585 completed without reported results, NCT01008527 completed without reported results, NCT01103635 ongoing). Current studies investigating CD40 combinations include combining anti-PD-L1 in solid tumors (NCT02304393), anti-Ang2/VEGF in solid tumors (NCT02665416), anti-CSF1 R in solid tumors (NCT02760797), and gemcitabine/nab-Paclitaxel in pancreatic carcinoma (NCT02588443).

APX005M is a humanized rabbit IgG1 CD40 agonist being tested in multiple trials, in combination with anti-PD-1 (NCT02706353, NCT03123783) and CD40 alone (NCT02482168).

ADC-1013 is a fully human IgG1 CD40 agonist being studied as monotherapy in multiple studies (NCT02379741, completed without reported results, NCT02829099).

SEA-CD40: non-fucosylated humanized IgG1 agonist, CD40 alone (NCT02376699, recruiting).

Dacetuzumab is a humanized anti-CD40 IgG2 mAb that has been tested in B-cell hematologic malignancies, which have high constitutive expression of CD40. Dacetuzumab was first given as a phase I dose escalation trial in 44 multiple myeloma patients where the addition of steroid premedication was found to increase the tolerated dose; however, it demonstrated no objective clinical response. Similarly, it was tested in a phase I dose escalation trial in 12 patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and again, no objective responses were seen. Based on preclinical data suggesting synergy with rituximab (anti-CD20 mAb), dacetuzumab was tested along with rituximab (and gemcitabine) in 33 patients with refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL). In this trial, the combination generated six (20%)complete responses and eight (27%) partial responses. However, a randomized phase II trial comparing this combination with chemotherapy alone in DLBCL was terminated early based on perceived futility. In these trials, dacetuzumab therapy also caused cytokine release syndrome in a minority of patients, but was generally well tolerated. There are no ongoing trials registered for dacetuzumab [326, 335–338].

A third agonistic anti-CD40 mAb being tested is Chi Lob 7/4. This chimeric IgG1 mAb has undergone phase I testing in patients with CD40⁺ advanced solid malignancies or DLBCL. 15/29 treatments were accompanied by disease stabilization for a median of 6 months with acceptable toxicities when single-dose corticosteroids were administered [339]. No further studies are registered.

The fourth anti-CD40 mAb under investigation is lucatumumab, a fully humanized IgG1mAb, which, unlike the previously described CD40-targeted therapies, is antagonistic. As previously discussed, there is evidence that CD40 ligation can promote proliferation and cell growth in low grade B-cell malignancies as in normal B lymphocytes, although the data is mixed. Thus, the proposed mechanisms of action for lucatumumab include blocking of CD40 ligation on malignant cells and ADCC, but not immunostimulation. Lucatumumab has been tested in two dose escalation phase I trials in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and in multiple myeloma with minimal toxicity but only modest clinical responses. No further studies are currently registered [328, 329, 340–342].

There is currently one actively recruiting study evaluating CDX-1140, a fully human monoclonal anti-CD40 antibody (NCT03329950). No results have been reported.

6.9.6 TIM-3

The function of T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain 3 (TIM-3) is becoming better understood. TIM-3 is expressed on multiple cell types including IFN-gamma secreting CD8+ T-cells, Treg cells, and cells of the innate immune system (macrophages, dendritic cells), affecting both adaptive and innate immune responses. TIM-3 is expressed on Th1 cells and generates an inhibitory signal-inducing apoptosis of Th1 cells. It is also expressed on some dendritic cells leading to apoptotic cell phagocytosis and disruption of cross-antigen presentation. TIM-3 is upregulated in tumor-specific CD8+ T cells and CD8+ TILs, while administration of TIM-3 increases proliferation and activity of antigenspecific T cells. In multiple cancers, TIM-3 expression has been associated with tumor progression and shorter survival. Preclinical data suggests that TIM-3 blockade may be most effective when given in combination with PD-1 mAbs. In addition, since TIM-3 is expressed on non-T cells, a possible mechanism for penetration of the tumor microenvironment is theorized. In general, TIM-3 is seen as a negative regulator of antitumor immunity. Its selective expression on intratumoral T cells may reduce nonspecific toxicity and even offers theoretical synergy with checkpoint inhibitors [343–349].

There are two TIM-3 monoclonal antibodies in development. MBG 453 (Novartis, Basel, Switzerland) is being studied in a phase Ib/II openlabel trial comparing single-agent therapy to combination therapy with PD-1 antibodies in adults with advanced malignancies (NCT02608268 recruiting, NCT03066648 recruiting).

TSR-022 (TESARO, Waltham, USA) is being evaluated in a phase 1 study (NCT02817633, recruiting) as a single agent in adults with advanced solid malignancies. Some select patients will receive combination therapy with anti-PD-1 antibodies.

6.9.7 TGN1421: A Cautionary Tale

A word of caution is warranted about trying new individual or combination immune checkpoint therapies. While some immunomodulatory therapies have been well tolerated, it is clear that they have the potential for severe, lasting, and sometimes fatal toxicities. Just as animal models have proven inadequate for reliable prediction of human cancer responses to therapy, they are also inconsistent predictors of treatment toxicity. The most notable example of this is experience with TGN1412 (TeGenero). TGN1412 is a novel agonist anti-CD28 mAb, which was under development for treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. In animal models, the drugs showed encouraging immunologic results without detectable toxicities. Thus, the drug was given as a single infusion to six healthy volunteers. Within 90 min, all displayed signs of cytokine release syndrome, and within 16 h all were critically ill. All patients suffered from multisystem organ failure including acute lung injury, renal failure, and disseminated intravascular coagulation. Fortunately, all six survived and

recovered [350]. This example underscores the care that is necessary when designing and conducting clinical trials in order to maximize patient safety.

6.10 Conclusion

If decades of cancer research and, in particular, cancer immunotherapy research have taught us anything, it is that cancer is a resilient and adaptable foe. For now, checkpoint inhibition has added another weapon to our arsenal in the battle against cancer. As its current indications are expanding, it serves as proof of principle that immune checkpoint blockade can overcome cancer immune tolerance and escape in a clinically meaningful way. It has also reinvigorated research in cancer immunology and spurred the search for new immune coinhibitory and costimulatory checkpoints to target. While the initial work in new targets is encouraging, many large trials, at the cost of millions of dollars, are needed before its full potential is established. As we further elucidate the mechanisms by which cancer evades immune detection and destruction and learn to counter them, more effective and better-tolerated therapies are sure to emerge. Additionally, further characterization of the interactions between cancer and host immune system and how this changes with checkpoint blockade may help us understand and discover biomarkers for predicting which patients will respond, allowing treatment to be tailored and toxicity to be minimized.

Perhaps the greatest potential for improving outcomes and achieving broader applicability lies in using immune checkpoint blockade as combination therapy, by using blocking antibodies on coinhibitory receptors and agonist antibodies on costimulatory receptors. By combining checkpoint blockade therapy with conventional therapies such as chemotherapy and radiation, the destructive power of these therapies can be parlayed into a purposeful, long-lasting, cancer-specific immune response. Similarly, checkpoint blockade may help break down the barriers that have prevented most cancer vaccines from working and thus fulfill the long soughtafter promise of active immunotherapy-a

stimulated, long-lasting, cancer-specific immune response that eliminates established tumors or prevents their recurrence.

References

- 1. Burnet M. Cancer: a biological approach. Br Med J. 1957;1:841–7.
- Ichim CV. Revisiting immunosurveillance and immunostimulation: implications for cancer immunotherapy. J Transl Med. 2005;3:8.
- Manjili MH. Revisiting cancer immunoediting by understanding cancer immune complexity. J Pathol. 2011;224:5–9.
- Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Restifo NP. Cancer immunotherapy: moving beyond current vaccines. Nat Med. 2004;10:909–15.
- Kantoff P, Higano C, Shore N, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, et al. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2011;363:411–22.
- Small EJ, Schellhammer PF, Higano C, Redfern CH, Nemunaitis JJ, Valone FH, et al. Placebo-controlled phase III trial of immunologic therapy with Sipuleucel-T (APC8015) in patients with metastatic, asymptomatic hormone refractory prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:3089–94.
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331:1565–70.
- Yamazaki K, Spruill G, Rhoderick J, Spielman J, Savaraj N, Podack E. Small cell lung carcinomas express shared and private tumor antigens presented by HLA-A1 or HLA-A2. Cancer Res. 1999;59:4642–50.
- Redondo M, Concha A, Oldiviela R, Cueto A, Gonzalez A, Garrido F, et al. Expression of HLA class I and II antigens in bronchogenic carcinomas: its relationship to cellular DNA content and clinical-pathological parameters. Cancer Res. 1991;51:4948–54.
- Bronte V, Mocellin S. Suppressive influences in the immune response to cancer. J Immunother. 2009;32:1–11.
- Smyth MJ, Dunn GP, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting: the roles of immunity in suppressing tumor development and shaping tumor immunogenicity. Adv Immunol. 2006;90:1–50.
- Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L, et al. Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. Science. 2015;350:207–11.
- Yang JC, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive T-cell therapy for cancer. Adv Immunol. 2016;130:279–94.
- Brown SD, Warren RL, Gibb EA, Martin SD, Spinelli JJ, Nelson BH, et al. Neo-antigens predicted by tumor genome meta-analysis correlate

with increased patient survival. Genome Res. 2014;24:743–50.

- Verdegaal EM, de Miranda NF, Visser M, Harryvan T, van Buuren MM, Anderson RS, et al. Neoantigen landscape dynamics during human melanoma-T cell interactions. Nature. 2016;536:91–5.
- Yarchoan M, Hopkins A, Jaffee EM. Tumor mutational burden and response rate to PD-1 inhibition. N Engl J Med. 2017;377:2500–1.
- Carbone DP, Reck M, Paz-Ares L, Creelan B, Horn L, Steins M, et al. First-line Nivolumab in stage IV or recurrent non-Small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:2415–26.
- Yaghmour G, Pandey M, Ireland C, Patel K, Nunnery S, Powell D, et al. Role of genomic instability in immunotherapy with checkpoint inhibitors. Anticancer Res. 2016;36:4033–8.
- Drugs@FDA Food and Drug Administration Approved Drug Products. US Food and Drug Administration. 2019. https://www.accessdata.fda. gov/scripts/cder/daf/. Accessed 20 September 2019.
- Brunet J, Denizot F, Luciani M, Roux-Dosseto M, Suzan M, Mattei M, et al. New member of the immunoglobulin superfamily--CTLA-4. Nature. 1987;328:267–70.
- Mocellin S, Benna C, Pilati P. Coinhibitory molecules in cancer biology and therapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2013;24:1–15.
- Waterhouse P, Penninger J, Timms E, Wakeham A, Shahinian A, Lee K, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders with early lethality in mice deficient in Ctla-4. Science. 1995;270:985–8.
- 23. Diehn M, Alizadeh AA, Rando OJ, Liu C, Stankunas K, Botstein D, et al. Genomic expression programs and the integration of the CD28 costimulatory signal in T cell activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99:11796–801.
- Walker LS, Sansom DM. The emerging role of CTLA4 as a cell-extrinsic regulator of T cell responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11:852–63.
- Sansom DM, Walker LS. The role of CD28 and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) in regulatory T-cell biology. Immunol Rev. 2006;212:131–48.
- Collins AV, Brodie DW, Gilbert RJ, Iaboni A, Manso-Sancho R, Walse B, et al. The interaction properties of costimulatory molecules revisited. Immunity. 2002;17:201–10.
- Thompson C, Allison J. The emerging role of CTLA-4 as an immune attenuator. Immunity. 1997;7:445–50.
- Doyle A, Mullen A, Villarino A, Hutchins A, High F, Lee H, et al. Induction of cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4) restricts clonal expansion of helper T cells. J Exp Med. 2001;194:893–902.
- Grosso JF, Jure-Kunkel MN. CTLA-4 blockade in tumor models: an overview of preclinical and translational research. Cancer Immun. 2013;13:5.
- Tivol E, Boyd S, McKeon S, Borriello F, Nickerson P, Strom T. CTLA4Ig prevents lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction in CTLA-4deficient mice. J Immunol. 1997;158:5091–4.

- Mandelbrot D, McAdam A, Sharpe A. B7-1 or B7-2 is required to produce the lymphoproliferative phenotype in mice lacking cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 (CTLA-4). J Exp Med. 1999;189:435–40.
- Peggs KS, Quezada SA, Allison JP. Cell intrinsic mechanisms of T-cell inhibition and application to cancer therapy. Immunol Rev. 2008;224:141–65.
- 33. Khan S, Burt DJ, Ralph C, Thistlethwaite FC, Hawkins RE, Elkord E. Tremelimumab (anti-CTLA4) mediates immune responses mainly by direct activation of T effector cells rather than by affecting T regulatory cells. Clin Immunol. 2011;138:85–96.
- 34. Selby M, Engelhardt J, Quigley M, Henning K, Chen T, Srinivasan M, et al. Anti-CTLA-4 antibodies of IgG2a isotype enhance antitumor activity through reduction of Intratumoral regulatory T cells. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1:32–42.
- Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-Martin P, Yamaguchi T, Miyara M, Fehervari Z, et al. CTLA-4 control over Foxp3+ regulatory T cell function. Science. 2008;322:271–5.
- 36. Tang AL, Teijaro JR, Njau MN, Chandran SS, Azimzadeh A, Nadler SG, et al. CTLA4 expression is an indicator and regulator of steady-state CD4+ FoxP3+ T cell homeostasis. J Immunol. 2008;181:1806–13.
- Quezada SA, Peggs KS, Curran MA, Allison JP. CTLA4 blockade and GM-CSF combination immunotherapy alters the intratumor balance of effector and regulatory T cells. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:1935–45.
- Kavanagh B, O'Brien S, Lee D, Hou Y, Weinberg V, Rini B, et al. CTLA4 blockade expands FoxP3+ regulatory and activated effector CD4+ T cells in a dose-dependent fashion. Blood. 2008;112:1175–83.
- Riella L, Liu T, Yang J, Chock S, Shimizu T, Mfarrej B, et al. Deleterious effect of CTLA4-Ig on a Tregdependent transplant model. Am J Transplant. 2012;12:846–55.
- Ueda H, Howson JM, Esposito L, Heward J, Snook H, Chamberlain G, et al. Association of the T-cell regulatory gene CTLA4 with susceptibility to autoimmune disease. Nature. 2003;423:506–11.
- 41. Awata T, Kurihara S, Iitaka M, Takei S, Inoue I, Ishii C, et al. Association of CTLA-4 gene A-G polymorphism (IDDM12 locus) with acute-onset and insulin-depleted IDDM as well as autoimmune thyroid disease (Graves's disease and Hashimoto's thyroiditis) in the Japanese population. Diabetes. 1998;47:128–9.
- 42. Araki M, Chung D, Liu S, Rainbow DB, Chamberlain G, Garner V, et al. Genetic evidence that the differential expression of the ligand-independent isoform of CTLA-4 is the molecular basis of the Idd5.1 type 1 diabetes region in nonobese diabetic mice. J Immunol. 2009;183:5146–57.
- Marron M, Zeidler A, Raffel L, Eckenrode SE, Yang JJ, Hopkins DI, et al. Genetic and physical mapping

of a type 1 diabetes susceptibility gene (IDDM12) to a 100-kb phagemid artificial chromosome clone containing D2S72-CTLA4-D2S105 on chromosome 2q33. Diabetes. 2000;49:492–9.

- Callahan MK, Postow MA, Wolchok JD. Immunomodulatory therapy for melanoma: Ipilimumab and beyond. Clin Dermol. 2013;31:191–9.
- 45. Ribas A, Camacho LH, Lopez-Berestein G, Pavlov D, Bulanhagui CA, Millham R, et al. Antitumor activity in melanoma and anti-self responses in a phase I trial with the anti-cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 monoclonal antibody CP-675,206. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:8968–77.
- 46. Camacho LH, Antonia S, Sosman J, Kirkwood JM, Gajewski TF, Redman B, et al. Phase I/II trial of tremelimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:1075–81.
- 47. Kirkwood JM, Lorigan P, Hersey P, Hauschild A, Robert C, McDermott D, et al. Phase II trial of tremelimumab (CP-675,206) in patients with advanced refractory or relapsed melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:1042–8.
- Ribas A. Clinical development of the anti– CTLA-4 antibody Tremelimumab. Semin Oncol. 2010;37:450–4.
- 49. Ribas A, Kefford R, Marshall MA, Punt CJ, Haanen JB, Marmol M, et al. Phase III randomized clinical trial comparing Tremelimumab with standard-of-care chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:616–22.
- Hodi SF, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with Ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:711–23.
- Weber JS, K\u00e4hler KC, Hauschild A. Management of immune-related adverse events and kinetics of response with ipilimumab. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2691–7.
- 52. Weber J, Thompson JA, Hamid O, Minor D, Amin A, Ron I, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase II study comparing the tolerability and efficacy of ipilimumab administered with or without prophylactic budesonide in patients with unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:5591–8.
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'Day S, Weber J, Garbe C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:2517–26.
- Corsello S, Barnabei A, Marchetti P, Vecchis DL, Salvatori R, Torino F. Endocrine side effects induced by immune checkpoint inhibitors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98:1361–75.
- 55. Coit DG, Andtbacka R, Anker CJ, Bichakjian CK, Carson WE 3rd, Daud A, et al. Melanoma, version 2.2013: featured updates to the NCCN guidelines. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2013;11:395–407.
- Downey SG, Klapper JA, Smith FO, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Royal RE, et al. Prognostic factors related to

clinical response in patients with metastatic melanoma treated by CTL-associated antigen-4 blockade. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:6681–8.

- Attia P, Phan GQ, Maker AV, Robinson MR, Quezado MM, Yang JC, et al. Autoimmunity correlates with tumor regression in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with anti-cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:6043–53.
- 58. Phan GQ, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Hwu P, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity induced by cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100:8372–7.
- 59. van den Eertwegh AJ, Versluis J, van den Berg PH, Santegoets SJ, van Moorselaar RJ, van der Sluis TM, et al. Combined immunotherapy with granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor-transduced allogeneic prostate cancer cells and ipilimumab in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:509–17.
- 60. Yang JC, Hughes M, Kammula U, Royal R, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, et al. Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA4 antibody) causes regression of metastatic renal cell cancer associated with enteritis and hypophysitis. J Immunother. 2007;30:825–30.
- Maker AV, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, Kammula US, Royal RE, et al. Intrapatient dose escalation of anti-CTLA-4 antibody in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Immunother. 2006;29:455–63.
- 62. Sanderson K, Scotland R, Lee P, Liu D, Groshen S, Snivley J, et al. Autoimmunity in a phase I trial of a fully human anti-cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 monoclonal antibody with multiple melanoma peptides and Montanide ISA 51 for patients with resected stages III and IV melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:741–50.
- Ishida Y, Agata Y, Shibahara K, Honjo T. Induced expression of PD-1, a novel member of the immunoglobulin gene superfamily, upon programmed cell death. EMBO J. 1992;11:3887–95.
- 64. Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. Immunity. 1999;11:141–51.
- Okazaki T, Honjo T. PD-1 and PD-1 ligands: from discovery to clinical application. Int Immunol. 2007;19:813–24.
- 66. Weber J. Immune checkpoint proteins: a new therapeutic paradigm for cancer—preclinical background: CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade. Semin Oncol. 2010;37:430–9.
- Terme M, Ullrich E, Aymeric L, Meinhardt K, Desbois M, Delahaye N, et al. IL-18 induces PD-1dependent immunosuppression in cancer. Cancer Res. 2011;71:5393–9.
- 68. Fanoni D, Tavecchio S, Recalcati S, Balice Y, Venegoni L, Fiorani R, et al. New monoclonal anti-

bodies against B-cell antigens: possible new strategies for diagnosis of primary cutaneous B-cell lymphomas. Immunol Lett. 2011;134:157–60.

- 69. Nishimura H, Agata Y, Kawasaki A, Sato M, Imamura S, Minato N, et al. Developmentally regulated expression of the PD-1 protein on the surface of double-negative (CD4-CD8-) thymocytes. Int Immunol. 1996;8:773–80.
- Pentcheva-Hoang T, Chen L, Pardoll DM, Allison JP. Programmed death-1 concentration at the immunological synapse is determined by ligand affinity and availability. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104:17765–70.
- Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. Ann Rev Immunol. 2008;26:677–704.
- Petroff MG, Chen L, Phillips TA, Azzola D, Sedlmayr P, Hunt JS. B7 family molecules are favorably positioned at the human maternal-fetal interface. Biol Reprod. 2003;68:1496–504.
- Guleria I, Khosroshahi A, Ansari M, Habicht A, Azuma M, Yagita H, et al. A critical role for the programmed death ligand 1 in fetomaternal tolerance. J Exp Med. 2005;202:231–7.
- Wilke C, Wei S, Wang L, Kryczek I, Kao J, Zou W. Dual biological effects of the cytokines interleukin-10 and interferon-γ. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60:1529–41.
- 75. Freeman G, Long A, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, et al. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. J Exp Med. 2000;192:1027–34.
- Latchman Y, Wood C, Chernova T, Chaudhary D, Borde M, Chernova I, et al. PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. Nat Immunol. 2001;2:261–8.
- Sznol M, Chen L. Antagonist antibodies to PD-1 and B7-H1 (PD-L1) in the treatment of advanced human cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:1021–34.
- Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Targeting the PD-1/B7-H1(PD-L1) pathway to activate anti-tumor immunity. Curr Opin Immunol. 2012;24:207–12.
- Nishimura H, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Nak Atani K, Hara M, Matsumori A, et al. Autoimmune dilated cardiomyopathy in PD-1 receptor-deficient mice. Science. 2001;291:319–22.
- Wang J, Okazaki IM, Yoshida T, Chikuma S, Kato Y, Nakaki F, et al. PD-1 deficiency results in the development of fatal myocarditis in MRL mice. Int Immunol. 2010;22:443–52.
- Dong H, Zhu G, Tamada K, Flies DB, van Deursen JM, Chen L. B7-H1 determines accumulation and deletion of intrahepatic CD8(+) T lymphocytes. Immunity. 2004;20:327–36.
- 82. Sheppard K-A, Fitz LJ, Lee JM, Benander C, George JA, Wooters J, et al. PD-1 inhibits T-cell receptor induced phosphorylation of the ZAP70/CD3zeta signalosome and downstream signaling to PKCtheta. FEBS Lett. 2004;574:37–41.

- Okazaki T, Maeda A, Nishimura H, Kurosaki T, Honjo T. PD-1 immunoreceptor inhibits B cell receptor-mediated signaling by recruiting src homology 2-domain-containing tyrosine phosphatase 2 to phosphotyrosine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98:13866–71.
- 84. Chemnitz JM, Parry RV, Nichols KE, June CH, Riley JL. SHP-1 and SHP-2 associate with immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motif of programmed death 1 upon primary human T cell stimulation, but only receptor ligation prevents T cell activation. J Immunol. 2004;173:945–54.
- Carter L, Fouser LA, Jussif J, Fitz L, Deng B, Wood CR, et al. PD-1:PD-L inhibitory pathway affects both CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells and is overcome by IL-2. Eur J Immunol. 2002;32:634–43.
- Nurieva R, Thomas S, Nguyen T, Martin-Orozco N, Wang Y, Kaja M-K, et al. T-cell tolerance or function is determined by combinatorial costimulatory signals. EMBO J. 2006;25:2623–33.
- Park JJ, Omiya R, Matsumura Y, Sakoda Y, Kuramasu A, Augustine MM, et al. B7-H1/CD80 interaction is required for the induction and maintenance of peripheral T-cell tolerance. Blood. 2010;116:1291–8.
- Butte MJ, Keir ME, Phamduy TB, Sharpe AH, Freeman GJ. Programmed death-1 ligand 1 interacts specifically with the B7-1 costimulatory molecule to inhibit T cell responses. Immunity. 2007;27:111–22.
- Iwai Y, Terawaki S, Ikegawa M, Okazaki T, Honjo T. PD-1 inhibits antiviral immunity at the effector phase in the liver. J Exp Med. 2003;198:39–50.
- Hino R, Kabashima K, Kato Y, Yagi H, Nakamura M, Honjo T, et al. Tumor cell expression of programmed cell death-1 ligand 1 is a prognostic factor for malignant melanoma. Cancer. 2010;116:1757–66.
- 91. Geng L, Huang D, Liu J, Qian Y, Deng J, Li D, et al. B7-H1 up-regulated expression in human pancreatic carcinoma tissue associates with tumor progression. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2008;134:1021–7.
- Parsa AT, Waldron JS, Panner A, Crane CA, Parney IF, Barry JJ, et al. Loss of tumor suppressor PTEN function increases B7-H1 expression and immunoresistance in glioma. Nat Med. 2007;13:84–8.
- 93. Ghebeh H, Mohammed S, Al-Omair A, Qattan A, Lehe C, Al-Qudaihi G, et al. The B7-H1 (PD-L1) T lymphocyte-inhibitory molecule is expressed in breast cancer patients with infiltrating ductal carcinoma: correlation with important high-risk prognostic factors. Neoplasia. 2006;8:190–8.
- 94. Wu C, Zhu Y, Jiang J, Zhao J, Zhang X-G, Xu N. Immunohistochemical localization of programmed death-1 ligand-1 (PD-L1) in gastric carcinoma and its clinical significance. Acta Histochem. 2006;108:19–24.
- 95. Ohigashi Y, Sho M, Yamada Y, Tsurui Y, Hamada K, Ikeda N. Clinical significance of programmed death-1 ligand-1 and programmed death-1 ligand-2 expression in human esophageal cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;11:2947–53.

- 96. Strome SE, Dong H, Tamura H, Voss SG, Flies DB, Tamada K, et al. B7-H1 blockade augments adoptive T-cell immunotherapy for squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2003;63:6501–5.
- 97. Hamanishi J, Mandai M, Iwasaki M, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Yamaguchi K, et al. Programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 and tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes are prognostic factors of human ovarian cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2007;104:3360–5.
- Thompson HR, Gillett MD, Cheville JC, Lohse CM, Dong H, Webster WS, et al. Costimulatory molecule B7-H1 in primary and metastatic clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Cancer. 2005;104:2084–91.
- 99. Rosenwald A, Wright G, Leroy K, Yu X, Gaulard P, Gascoyne RD, et al. Molecular diagnosis of primary mediastinal B cell lymphoma identifies a clinically favorable subgroup of diffuse large B cell lymphoma related to Hodgkin lymphoma. J Exp Med. 2003;198:851–62.
- 100. Zhou Q, Munger ME, Highfill SL, Tolar J, Weigel BJ, Riddle M, et al. Program death-1 signaling and regulatory T cells collaborate to resist the function of adoptively transferred cytotoxic T lymphocytes in advanced acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2010;116:2484–93.
- 101. Zou W, Chen L. Inhibitory B7-family molecules in the tumour microenvironment. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8:467–77.
- 102. Konishi J, Yamazaki K, Azuma M, Kinoshita I, Dosaka-Akita H, Nishimura M. B7-H1 expression on non-small cell lung cancer cells and its relationship with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and their PD-1 expression. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10:5094–100.
- Droeser RA, Hirt C, Viehl CT, Frey JM, Nebiker C, Huber X, et al. Clinical impact of programmed cell death ligand 1 expression in colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49:2233–42.
- 104. Badoual C, Hans S, Merillon N, Van Ryswick C, Ravel P, Benhamouda N, et al. PD-1-expressing tumor-infiltrating T cells are a favorable prognostic biomarker in HPV-associated head and neck cancer. Cancer Res. 2013;73:128–38.
- 105. Sfanos KS, Bruno TC, Meeker AK, Marzo AM, Isaacs WB, Drake CG. Human prostate-infiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes are oligoclonal and PD-1+. Prostate. 2009;69:1694–703.
- 106. Benson DM, Bakan CE, Mishra A, Hofmeister CC, Efebera Y, Becknell B, et al. The PD-1/PD-L1 axis modulates the natural killer cell versus multiple myeloma effect: a therapeutic target for CT-011, a novel monoclonal anti-PD-1 antibody. Blood. 2010;116:2286–94.
- 107. Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, et al. Tumor-associated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. Nat Med. 2002;8:793–800.
- 108. Iwai Y, Ishida M, Tanaka Y, Okazaki T, Honjo T, Minato N. Involvement of PD-L1 on tumor cells in the escape from host immune system and tumor

immunotherapy by PD-L1 blockade. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99:12293–7.

- 109. Azuma T, Yao S, Zhu G, Flies AS, Flies SJ, Chen L. B7-H1 is a ubiquitous antiapoptotic receptor on cancer cells. Blood. 2008;111:3635–43.
- 110. Hirano F, Kaneko K, Tamura H, Dong H, Wang S, Ichikawa M, et al. Blockade of B7-H1 and PD-1 by monoclonal antibodies potentiates cancer therapeutic immunity. Cancer Res. 2005;65:1089–96.
- 111. Taube JM, Anders RA, Young GD, Xu H, Shama R, McMiller TL, et al. Colocalization of inflammatory response with B7-h1 expression in human melanocytic lesions supports an adaptive resistance mechanism of immune escape. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4:127–37.
- 112. Kim J, Myers AC, Chen L, Pardoll DM, Truong-Tran Q-A, Lane AP, et al. Constitutive and inducible expression of b7 family of ligands by human airway epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2005;33:280–9.
- 113. Lee SK, Seo SH, Kim BS, Kim CD, Lee JH, Kang JS, et al. IFN-gamma regulates the expression of B7-H1 in dermal fibroblast cells. J Dermatol Sci. 2005;40:95–103.
- 114. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:252–64.
- 115. Okudaira K, Hokari R, Tsuzuki Y, Okada Y, Komoto S, Watanabe C, et al. Blockade of B7-H1 or B7-DC induces an anti-tumor effect in a mouse pancreatic cancer model. Int J Oncol. 2009;35:741–9.
- 116. Blank C, Brown I, Peterson AC, Spiotto M, Iwai Y, Honjo T, et al. PD-L1/B7H-1 inhibits the effector phase of tumor rejection by T cell receptor (TCR) transgenic CD8+ T cells. Cancer Res. 2004;64:1140–5.
- 117. Webster SW, Thompson HR, Harris KJ, Frigola X, Kuntz S, Inman BA, et al. Targeting molecular and cellular inhibitory mechanisms for improvement of antitumor memory responses reactivated by tumor cell vaccine. J Immunol. 2007;179:2860–9.
- 118. Li B, VanRoey M, Wang C, Chen T, Korman A, Jooss K. Anti-programmed death-1 synergizes with granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor--secreting tumor cell immunotherapy providing therapeutic benefit to mice with established tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:1623–34.
- 119. Mkrtichyan M, Najjar YG, Raulfs EC, Abdalla MY, Samara R, Rotem-Yehudar R, et al. Anti-PD-1 synergizes with cyclophosphamide to induce potent anti-tumor vaccine effects through novel mechanisms. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41:2977–86.
- 120. Zhou Q, Xiao H, Liu Y, Peng Y, Hong Y, Yagita H, et al. Blockade of programmed death-1 pathway rescues the effector function of tumor-infiltrating T cells and enhances the antitumor efficacy of lentivector immunization. J Immunol. 2010;185:5082–92.
- 121. Blank C, Kuball J, Voelkl S, Wiendel H, Becker B, Walter B, et al. Blockade of PD-L1 (B7-H1)

augments human tumor-specific T cell responses in vitro. Int J Cancer. 2006;119:317–27.

- 122. Wong R, Scotland R, Lau R, Wang C, Korman A, Kast W, Weber J. Programmed death-1 blockade enhances expansion and functional capacity of human melanoma antigen-specific CTLs. Int Immunol. 2007;19:1223–34.
- 123. Zhang Y, Huang S, Gong D, Qin Y, Shen Q. Programmed death-1 upregulation is correlated with dysfunction of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes in human non-small cell lung cancer. Cell Mol Immunol. 2010;7:389–95.
- 124. Topalian SL, Hodi SF, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti–PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2443–54.
- 125. Müller T, Braun M, Dietrich D, Aktekin S, Höft S, Kristiansen G, et al. PD-L1: a novel prognostic biomarker in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Oncotarget. 2017;8:52889–900.
- Gibney GT, Weiner LM, Atkins MB. Predictive biomarkers for checkpoint inhibitor-based immunotherapy. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:e542–51.
- 127. Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:2189–99.
- 128. Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, Lao CD, et al. Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:23–34.
- 129. Wolchok JD, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Rutkowski P, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, et al. Overall survival with combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2017;377:1345–56.
- 130. Gettinger S, Rizvi NA, Chow LQ, Borghaei H, Brahmer J, Ready N, et al. Nivolumab monotherapy for first-line treatment of advanced non–Small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:2980–7.
- 131. Rizvi NA, Mazières J, Planchard D, Stinchcombe TE, Dy GK, Antonia SJ, et al. Activity and safety of nivolumab, an anti-PD-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor, for patients with advanced, refractory squamous non-small-cell lung cancer (CheckMate 063): a phase 2, single-arm trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:257–65.
- 132. Weber JS, D'Angelo SP, Minor D, et al. Nivolumab versus chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma who progressed after anti-CTLA-4 treatment (CheckMate 037): a randomised, controlled, openlabel, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:375–84.
- 133. Paz-Ares L, Horn L, Borghaei H, et al. Phase III, randomized trial (CheckMate 057) of nivolumab (NIVO) versus docetaxel (DOC) in advanced nonsquamous cell (non-SQ) non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:LBA109.
- 134. Robert C, Long GV, Brady B, Dutriaux C, Maio M, Mortier L, et al. Nivolumab in previously untreated

melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:320–30.

- 135. Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, Leighl N, Balmonoukian AS, Eder JP, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non–Small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2018–28.
- 136. Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Rober L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature. 2014;515:568–71.
- 137. Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Aulakh LK, Lu S, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatchrepair deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2017;372:2509–20.
- 138. Robert C, Schachter J, Long GV, Arance A, Grob JJ, Mortier L, et al. Pembrolizumab versus Ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2521–32.
- 139. Herbst RS, Baas P, Kim DW, Felip E, Perez-Gracia JL, Han JY, et al. Pembrolizumab versus docetaxel for previously treated, PD-L1-positive, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (KEYNOTE-010): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2016;387:1540–50.
- 140. Reck M, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csoszi T, Fulop A, et al. Pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for PD-L1-positive non-Small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1823–33.
- 141. Zeng J, See AP, Phallen J, Jackson CM, Belcaid Z, Ruzevick J, et al. Anti-PD-1 blockade and stereotactic radiation produce Long-term survival in mice with intracranial gliomas. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;86:343–9.
- 142. Rosenberg JE, Hoffman-Censits J, Powles T, van der Heijden MS, Balar AV, Nechhi A, et al. Atezolizumab in patients with locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma who have progressed following treatment with platinum-based chemotherapy: a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet. 2016;387:1909–20.
- 143. Atezolizumab. Highlights of Prescribing Information. 2019. https://www.gene.com/download/pdf/tecentriq_prescribing.pdf. Accessed 20 Sep 2019.
- 144. Fehrenbacher L, Spira A, Ballinger M, Kowanetz M, Vansteenkiste J, Mazieres J, et al. Atezolizumab versus docetaxel for patients with previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (POPLAR): a multicentre, open-label, phase 2 randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2016;387:1837–46.
- 145. McDermott DF, Sosman JA, Sznol M, Massard C, Gordon MS, Hamid O, et al. Atezolizumab, an anti–programmed death-ligand 1 antibody, in metastatic renal cell carcinoma: Long-term safety, clinical activity, and immune correlates from a phase Ia study. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:833–42.
- 146. Rittmeyer A, Barlesi F, Waterkamp D, Park K, Ciardiello F, von Pawel J, et al. Atezolizumab versus docetaxel in patients with previously treated nonsmall-cell lung cancer (OAK): a phase 3, open-label, multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2017;389:255–65.

- 147. Powles T, O'Donnell PH, Massard C, Arkenau HT, Friedlander TW, Holmes CJ, et al. Efficacy and safety of Durvalumab in locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma: updated results from a phase 1/2 open-label study. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3:e172411.
- 148. Antonia SJ, Villegas A, Daniel D, Vincente D, Murakami S, Hui R, et al. Durvalumab after Chemoradiotherapy in stage III non-Small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;377:1919–29.
- 149. Kaufman HL, Russell JS, Hamid O, Bhatia S, Terheyden P, D'Angelo SP, et al. Updated efficacy of avelumab in patients with previously treated metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma after ≥1 year of followup: JAVELIN Merkel 200, a phase 2 clinical trial. J Immunother Cancer. 2018;6:7.
- 150. Kaufman HL, Russell J, Hamid O, Bhatia S, Terheyden P, D'Angelo SP, et al. Avelumab in patients with chemotherapy-refractory metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma: a multicentre, singlegroup, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:1374–85.
- 151. Oxnard GR, Morris MJ, Hodi SF, Baker LH, Kris MG, Venook AP, Schwartz LH. When progressive disease does not mean treatment failure: reconsidering the criteria for progression. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2012;104:1534–41.
- 152. Wolchok JD, Hoos A, O'Day S, Weber JS, Hamid O, Lebbe C, et al. Guidelines for the evaluation of immune therapy activity in solid tumors: immune-related response criteria. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:7412–20.
- 153. O'Day S, Maio M, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gajewksi TF, Pehamberger H, Bondarenko IN, et al. Efficacy and safety of ipilimumab monotherapy in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma: a multicenter single-arm phase II study. Ann Oncol. 2010;21:1712–7.
- 154. Lynch TJ, Bondarenko I, Luft A, Serwatowksi P, Barlesi F, Chacko R, et al. Ipilimumab in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin as first-line treatment in stage IIIB/IV non-small-cell lung cancer: results from a randomized, double-blind, multicenter phase II study. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2046–54.
- 155. Fishwild D, O'Donnell S, Bengoechea T, Hudson DV, Harding F, Bernhard SL, et al. High-avidity human IgG kappa monoclonal antibodies from a novel strain of minilocus transgenic mice. Nat Biotechnol. 1996;14:845–51.
- 156. Keler T, Halk E, Vitale L, O'Neill T, Blanset D, Lee S, et al. Activity and safety of CTLA-4 blockade combined with vaccines in cynomolgus macaques. J Immunol. 2003;171:6251–9.
- Yonekawa Y, Kim IK. Epidemiology and management of uveal melanoma. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2012;26:1169–84.
- 158. Rodriguez J, Olza M, Codes M, Lopez-Martin JA, Berrocal A, García M, et al. Phase II study evaluating ipilimumab as a single agent in the first-line treatment of adult patients (Pts) with metastatic

uveal melanoma (MUM): The GEM-1 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32S:ASCO #9033.

- 159. Zimmer L, Vaubel J, Mohr P, Hauschild A, Utikal J, Simon J, et al. Phase II DeCOG-study of Ipilimumab in pretreated and treatment-Naïve patients with metastatic uveal melanoma. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0118564.
- 160. Rosenberg S, Yang J, Schwartzentruber D, Hwu P, Marincola FM, Topalian SL, et al. Immunologic and therapeutic evaluation of a synthetic peptide vaccine for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma. Nat Med. 1998;4:321–7.
- 161. Robert C, Schadendorf D, Messina M, Hodi SF, O'Day S. MDX010-20 investigators. Efficacy and safety of retreatment with ipilimumab in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma who progressed after initially achieving disease control. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:2232–9.
- Agarwala SS. Current systemic therapy for metastatic melanoma. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2009;9:587–95.
- 163. Wolchok JD, Neyns B, Linette G, Negrier S, Lutzky Thomas L, et al. Ipilimumab monotherapy in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma: a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 2, dose-ranging study. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11:155–64.
- 164. Ascierto PA, Vecchio M, Robert C, Mackiewicz A, Chiarion-Sileni V, Arance A, et al. Ipilimumab 10 mg/kg versus ipilimumab 3 mg/kg in patients with unresectable or metastatic melanoma: a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:611–22.
- 165. Margolin K, Giacomo DA, Maio M. Brain metastasis in melanoma: clinical activity of CTLA-4 antibody therapy. Semin Oncol. 2010;37:468–72.
- 166. Schachter J, Ribas A, Long G, Arance A, Grob JJ, Mortier L, et al. Pembrolizumab versus ipilimumab for advanced melanoma: final overall survival results of a multicentre, randomised, open-label phase 3 study (KEYNOTE-006). Lancet. 2017;390:1853–62.
- 167. Petrella T, Robert C, Richtig E, Miller WH Jr, Masucci GV, Walpole R. Patient-reported outcomes in KEYNOTE-006, a randomised study of pembrolizumab versus ipilimumab in patients with advanced melanoma. Eur J Cancer. 2017;86:115–24.
- 168. Eggermont A, Chiarion-Sileni V, Grob JJ, Dummer R, Wolchok JD, Schmidt H, et al. Adjuvant ipilimumab versus placebo after complete resection of high-risk stage III melanoma (EORTC 18071): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:522–30.
- 169. Weber J, Mandala M, Vecchio M, Gogas HJ, Arance AM, Cowey CL. Adjuvant Nivolumab versus Ipilimumab in resected stage III or IV melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2017;377:1824–35.
- 170. Eggermont A, Blank C, Mandala M, Long GV, Atkinson V, Dalle S. Adjuvant Pembrolizumab versus placebo in resected stage III melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:1789–801.

- 171. Zitvogel L, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, André F, Tesniere A, Kroemer G. The anticancer immune response: indispensable for therapeutic success? J Clin Invest. 2008;118:1991–2001.
- 172. Zielinski C, Knapp S, Mascaux C, Hirsch F. Rationale for targeting the immune system through checkpoint molecule blockade in the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol. 2013;24:1170–9.
- 173. Wu L, Yun Z, Tagawa T, Rey-McIntyre K, de Perrot M. CTLA-4 blockade expands infiltrating T cells and inhibits cancer cell repopulation during the intervals of chemotherapy in murine mesothelioma. Mol Cancer Ther. 2012;11:1809–19.
- 174. Lee F, Jure-Kunkel MN, Salvati ME. Synergistic activity of ixabepilone plus other anticancer agents: preclinical and clinical evidence. Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2001;3:11–25.
- 175. Kang T, Mao C-P, Lee S, Chen A, Lee JH, Kim TW, et al. Chemotherapy acts as an adjuvant to convert the tumor microenvironment into a highly permissive state for vaccination-induced antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2013;73:2493–504.
- 176. Liu WM, Dalgleish AG. The potential beneficial effects of drugs on the immune response to vaccination. Semin Oncol. 2012;39:340–7.
- 177. Correale P, Vecchio M, Placa M, Montagnani F, Di Genova G, Savellini GG, et al. Chemotherapeutic drugs may be used to enhance the killing efficacy of human tumor antigen peptide-specific CTLs. J Immunother. 2008;31:132–47.
- 178. Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Ann Rev Immunol. 2013;31:51–72.
- 179. Hersh EM, O'Day SJ, Powderly J, Khan KD, Pavlick AC, Cranmer LD, et al. A phase II multicenter study of ipilimumab with or without dacarbazine in chemotherapy-naïve patients with advanced melanoma. Investig New Drugs. 2011;29:489–98.
- 180. Hoos A, Eggermont A, Janetzki S, Hodi F, Ibrahim R, Anderson A, et al. Improved endpoints for cancer immunotherapy trials. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102:1388–97.
- Ribas A, Hodi SF, Callahan M, Konto C, Wolchok J. Hepatotoxicity with combination of vemurafenib and ipilimumab. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1365–6.
- 182. Schiller JH, Harrington D, Belani CP, Langer C, Sandler A, Krook J, et al. Comparison of four chemotherapy regimens for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2002;346:92–8.
- 183. Govindan R, Szczesna A, Ahn MJ, Schneider CP, Gonzalez Mella PF, Barlesi F. Phase III trial of ipilimumab combined with paclitaxel and carboplatin in advanced squamous non–small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35:3449–57.
- 184. Oze I, Hotta K, Kiura K, Ochi N, Takigawa N, Fujiwara Y, et al. Twenty-seven years of phase III trials for patients with extensive disease smallcell lung cancer: disappointing results. PLoS One. 2009;4:e7835.

- 185. Reck M, Luft A, Szczesna A, Havel L, Kim SW, Akerley W, et al. Phase III randomized trial of Ipilimumab plus etoposide and platinum versus placebo plus etoposide and platinum in extensivestage Small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:3740–8.
- 186. Small E, Higano C, Tchekmedyian N, Sartor O, Stein B, Young RJ, et al. Randomized phase II study comparing 4 monthly doses of ipilimumab (MDX-010) as a single agent or in combination with a single dose of docetaxel in patients with hormone refractory prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;18:4609.
- 187. Rini BI, Stein M, Shannon P, Eddy S, Tyler A, Stephenson JJ, et al. Phase 1 dose-escalation trial of tremelimumab plus sunitinib in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Cancer. 2011;117:758–67.
- 188. Gandhi L, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Gadgeel S, Esteban E, Felip E, De Angelis F, et al. Pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy in metastatic non–small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:2078–92.
- Drake C. Combination immunotherapy approaches. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(Suppl 8):41–6.
- 190. Chakraborty M, Abrams SI, Camphausen K, Liu K, Scott T, Coleman NC, Hodge JW. Irradiation of tumor cells up-regulates Fas and enhances CTL lytic activity and CTL adoptive immunotherapy. J Immunol. 2003;170:6338–47.
- 191. Chakraborty M, Abrams SI, Coleman NC, Camphausen K, Schlom J, Hodge JW. External beam radiation of tumors alters phenotype of tumor cells to render them susceptible to vaccine-mediated T-cell killing. Cancer Res. 2004;64:4328–37.
- 192. Reits EA, Hodge JW, Herberts CA, Goothius TA, Chakraborty M. Wansley EK, et al radiation modulates the peptide repertoire, enhances MHC class I expression, and induces successful antitumor immunotherapy. J Exp Med. 2006;203:1259–71.
- 193. Demaria S, Bhardwaj N, McBride WH, Formenti SC. Combining radiotherapy and immunotherapy: a revived partnership. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;63:655–66.
- 194. Pilones KA, Kawashima N, Yang A, Babb JS, Formenti SC, Demaria S. Invariant natural killer T cells regulate breast cancer response to radiation and CTLA-4 blockade. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:597–606.
- 195. Dewan ZM, Galloway AE, Kawashima N, Dewyngaert KJ, Babb JS, Formenti SC, Demaria S. Fractionated but not single-dose radiotherapy induces an immune-mediated abscopal effect when combined with anti-CTLA-4 antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:5379–88.
- 196. Kingsley D. An interesting case of possible abscopal effect in malignant melanoma. Brit J Radiol. 1975;48:863–6.
- 197. Wersäll PJ, Blomgren H, Pisa P, Lax I, Kälkner K-M, Svedman C. Regression of non-irradiated metastases after extracranial stereotactic radiother-

apy in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Acta Oncol. 2006;45:493–7.

- 198. Robin H, AuBuchon J, Varanasi V, Weinstein A. The abscopal effect: demonstration in lymphomatous involvement of kidneys. Med Pediatr Oncol. 1981;9:473–6.
- 199. Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, Yamada Y, Yuan J, Kitano S, et al. Immunologic correlates of the Abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:925–31.
- 200. Hiniker SM, Chen DS, Knox SJ. Abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2035.
- 201. Slovin S, Higano C, Hamid O, Tejwani S, Harzstark A, Alumkal JJ, et al. Ipilimumab alone or in combination with radiotherapy in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: results from an open-label, multicenter phase I/II study. Ann Oncol. 2013;24:1831–21.
- 202. Kwon ED, Drake CG, Scher HI, Fizazi K, Bossi A, van den Eertwegh AJ, et al. Ipilimumab versus placebo after radiotherapy in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer that had progressed after docetaxel chemotherapy (CA184-043): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15:700–12.
- 203. Shaverdian N, Lisberg A, Bornazayan K, Veruttipong D, Goldman JW, Formenti SC, et al. Previous radio-therapy and the clinical activity and toxicity of pembrolizumab in the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer: a secondary analysis of the KEYNOTE-001 phase 1 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2018;18:895–903.
- 204. Hurwitz A, Yu T, Leach D, Allison J. CTLA-4 blockade synergizes with tumor-derived granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor for treatment of an experimental mammary carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:10067–71.
- 205. Espenschied J, Lamont J, Longmate J, Pendas S, Wang Z, Diamond DJ, Ellenhorn JD. CTLA-4 blockade enhances the therapeutic effect of an attenuated poxvirus vaccine targeting p53 in an established murine tumor model. J Immunol. 2003;170:3401–37.
- 206. Pedersen A, Buus S, Claesson M. Treatment of transplanted CT26 tumour with dendritic cell vaccine in combination with blockade of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 and CTLA-4. Cancer Lett. 2006;235:229–38.
- 207. Saha A, Chatterjee S. Combination of CTLassociated antigen-4 blockade and depletion of CD25 regulatory T cells enhance tumour immunity of dendritic cell-based vaccine in a mouse model of colon cancer. Scand J Immunol. 2010;71:70–82.
- 208. Sorensen MR, Holst PJ, Steffensen MA, Christensen JP, Thomsen AR. Adenoviral vaccination combined with CD40 stimulation and CTLA-4 blockage can lead to complete tumor regression in a murine melanoma model. Vaccine. 2010;28:6757–64.
- 209. van Elsas A, Hurwitz A, Allison J. Combination immunotherapy of B16 melanoma using anti-

cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and granulocyte/macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF)-producing vaccines induces rejection of subcutaneous and metastatic tumors accompanied by autoimmune depigmentation. J Exp Med. 1999;90:355–66.

- 210. Hurwitz A, Foster B, Kwon E, Truong T, Choi E, Greenberg N, et al. Combination immunotherapy of primary prostate cancer in a transgenic mouse model using CTLA-4 blockade. Cancer Res. 2000;60:2444–8.
- 211. van Elsas A, Sutmuller R, Hurwitz A, Ziskin J, Villasensor J, Medema JP, et al. Elucidating the autoimmune and antitumor effector mechanisms of a treatment based on cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 blockade in combination with a B16 melanoma vaccine: comparison of prophylaxis and therapy. J Exp Med. 2001;194:481–9.
- 212. Davila E, Kennedy R, Celis E. Generation of antitumor immunity by cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope peptide vaccination, CpG-oligodeoxynucleotide adjuvant, and CTLA-4 blockade. Cancer Res. 2003;63:3281–8.
- 213. Daftarian P, Song G-Y, Ali S, Faynsod M, Longmate J, Diamond DJ, Ellenhorn JD. Two distinct pathways of immuno-modulation improve potency of p53 immunization in rejecting established tumors. Cancer Res. 2004;64:5407–14.
- 214. Peggs KS, Quezada SA, Chambers CA, Korman AJ, Allison JP. Blockade of CTLA-4 on both effector and regulatory T cell compartments contributes to the antitumor activity of anti-CTLA-4 antibodies. J Exp Med. 2009;206:1717–25.
- 215. Curran MA, Montalvo W, Yagita H, Allison JP. PD-1 and CTLA-4 combination blockade expands infiltrating T cells and reduces regulatory T and myeloid cells within B16 melanoma tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:4275–80.
- 216. Wada S, Jackson CM, Yoshimura K, Yen HR, Getnet D, Harris TJ, et al. Sequencing CTLA-4 blockade with cell-based immunotherapy for prostate cancer. J Transl Med. 2013;11:89.
- 217. de Vries T, Fourkour A, Wobbes T, Verkroost G, Ruiter D, van Muijen G. Heterogeneous expression of immunotherapy candidate proteins gp100, MART-1, and tyrosinase in human melanoma cell lines and in human melanocytic lesions. Cancer Res. 1997;57:3223–9.
- 218. Schwartzentruber DJ, Lawson DH, Richards JM, Conry RM, Miller DM, Treisman J, et al. gp100 peptide vaccine and interleukin-2 in patients with advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:2119–27.
- 219. Madan RA, Mohebtash M, Arlen PM, Vergati M, Rauckhorst M, Steinberg SM, et al. Ipilimumab and a poxviral vaccine targeting prostate-specific antigen in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:501–8.

- 220. Ferris RL, Blumenschein G Jr, Fayette J, Guigay J, Colevas AD, Licitra L, et al. Nivolumab for recurrent squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1856–67.
- 221. Massarelli E, William W, Johnson F, Keis M, Ferraroto R, Guo M, et al. Combining immune checkpoint blockade and tumor-specific vaccine for patients with incurable human papillomavirus 16-related cancer: a phase 2 clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2019;5:67–73.
- 222. Weber J, Kudchadkar R, Yu B, Gallenstein D, Horak CE, Inzunza HD, et al. Safety, efficacy, and biomarkers of nivolumab with vaccine in ipilimumabrefractory or-naive melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:4311–8.
- 223. Rosenberg S, Yang J, White D, Steinberg S. Durability of complete responses in patients with metastatic cancer treated with high-dose interleukin-2: identification of the antigens mediating response. Ann Surg. 1998;228:307–19.
- 224. Takeda K, Kojima Y, Uno T, Hayakawa Y, Teng MW, Yoshizawa H, et al. Combination therapy of established tumors by antibodies targeting immune activating and suppressing molecules. J Immunol. 2010;184:5493–501.
- 225. Woo SR, Turnis ME, Goldberg MV, Bankoti J, Selby M, Nischl CJ, et al. Immune inhibitory molecules LAG-3 and PD-1 synergistically regulate T-cell function to promote tumoral immune escape. Cancer Res. 2012;72:917–27.
- 226. Duraiswamy J, Kaluza KM, Freeman GJ, Coukos G. Dual blockade of PD-1 and CTLA-4 combined with tumor vaccine effectively restores T cell rejection function in tumors. Cancer Res. 2013;73:3591–603.
- 227. Okazaki T, Okazaki IM, Wang J, Sugiura D, Nakaki F, Yoshida T, et al. PD-1 and LAG-3 inhibitory coreceptors act synergistically to prevent autoimmunity in mice. J Exp Med. 2011;208:395–407.
- 228. Kocak E, Lute K, Chang X, May KF, Exten KR, Zhang H, et al. Combination therapy with anti-CTL antigen-4 and anti-4-1BB antibodies enhances cancer immunity and reduces autoimmunity. Cancer Res. 2006;66:7276–84.
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:122–33.
- 230. Triebel F, Jitsukawa S, Baixeras E, Roman-Roman S, Genevee C, Viegas-Pequignot E, Hercend T. LAG-3, a novel lymphocyte activation gene closely related to CD4. J Exp Med. 1990;171:1393–405.
- 231. Huard B, Prigent P, Tournier M, Bruniquel D, Triebel F. CD4/major histocompatibility complex class II interaction analyzed with CD4- and lymphocyte activation gene-3 (LAG-3)-Ig fusion proteins. Eur J Immunol. 1995;25:2718–21.
- 232. Avice M, Sarfati M, Triebel F, Delespesse G, Demeure C. Lymphocyte activation gene-3, a MHC

class II ligand expressed on activated T cells, stimulates TNF-alpha and IL-12 production by monocytes and dendritic cells. J Immunol. 1999;162:2748–53.

- 233. Huard B, Tournier M, Hercend T, Triebel F, Faure F. Lymphocyte-activation gene 3/major histocompatibility complex class II interaction modulates the antigenic response of CD4+ T lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol. 1994;24:3216–21.
- Hannier S, Tournier M, Bismuth G, Triebel F. CD3/ TCR complex-associated lymphocyte activation gene-3 molecules inhibit CD3/TCR signaling. J Immunol. 1998;161:4058–65.
- 235. Triebel F. LAG-3: a regulator of T-cell and DC responses and its use in therapeutic vaccination. Trends Immunol. 2003;24:619–22.
- 236. Camisaschi C, Casati C, Rini F, Perego M, Filippo A, Triebel F, et al. LAG-3 expression defines a subset of CD4(+)CD25(high)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells that are expanded at tumor sites. J Immunol. 2010;184:6545–51.
- 237. Blackburn SD, Shin H, Haining NW, Zou T, Workman CJ, Polley A, et al. Coregulation of CD8+ T cell exhaustion by multiple inhibitory receptors during chronic viral infection. Nat Immunol. 2009;10:29–37.
- 238. Grosso JF, Goldberg MV, Getnet D, Bruno TC, Yen HR, Pyle KJ, et al. Functionally distinct LAG-3 and PD-1 subsets on activated and chronically stimulated CD8 T cells. J Immunol. 2009;182:6659–69.
- 239. Deffrennes V, Vedrenne J, Stolzenberg M, Piskurich J, Barbieri G, Ting J, et al. Constitutive expression of MHC class II genes in melanoma cell lines results from the transcription of class II transactivator abnormally initiated from its B cell-specific promoter. J Immunol. 2001;167:98–106.
- 240. Martins I, Sylla K, Deshayes F, Lauriol J, Ghislin S, Dieu-Nosjean MC, et al. Coexpression of major histocompatibility complex class II with chemokines and nuclear NFkappaB p50 in melanoma: a rational for their association with poor prognosis. Melanoma Res. 2009;19:226–37.
- 241. Hemon P, Jean-Louis F, Ramgolam K, Brignone C, Viguier M, Bachelez H, et al. MHC class II engagement by its ligand LAG-3 (CD223) contributes to melanoma resistance to apoptosis. J Immunol. 2011;186:5173–83.
- 242. Grosso JF, Kelleher CC, Harris TJ, Maris CH, Hipkiss EL, De Marzo A, et al. LAG-3 regulates CD8+ T cell accumulation and effector function in murine self- and tumor-tolerance systems. J Clin Invest. 2007;117:3383–92.
- 243. Miyazaki T, Dierich A, Benoist C, Mathis D. Independent modes of natural killing distinguished in mice lacking Lag3. Science. 1996;272:405–8.
- 244. Triebel F, Hacene K, Pichon MF. A soluble lymphocyte activation gene-3 (sLAG-3) protein as a prognostic factor in human breast cancer expressing estrogen or progesterone receptors. Cancer Lett. 2006;235:147–53.

- 245. Fougeray S, Brignone C, Triebel F. A soluble LAG-3 protein as an immunopotentiator for therapeutic vaccines: preclinical evaluation of IMP321. Vaccine. 2006;24:5426–33.
- 246. Brignone C, Grygar C, Marcu M, Perrin G, Triebel F. IMP321 (sLAG-3), an immunopotentiator for T cell responses against a HBsAg antigen in healthy adults: a single blind randomised controlled phase I study. J Immune Based Ther Vaccines. 2007;5:5.
- 247. Brignone C, Escudier B, Grygar C, Marcu M. Triebel F a phase I pharmacokinetic and biological correlative study of IMP321, a novel MHC class II agonist, in patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:6225–31.
- 248. Wang-Gillam A, Plambeck-Suess S, Goedegebuure P, Simon PO, Mitchem JB, Hornick JR, et al. A phase I study of IMP321 and gemcitabine as the front-line therapy in patients with advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Investig New Drugs. 2013;31:707–13.
- 249. Ascierto P, Simeone E, Sznol M, Fu Y, Melero I. Clinical experiences with anti-CD137 and anti-PD1 therapeutic antibodies. Semin Oncol. 2010;37:508–16.
- 250. Vinay DS, Kwon BS. 4-1BB signaling beyond T cells. Cell Mol Immunol. 2011;8:281–4.
- Watts TH. TNF/TNFR family members in costimulation of T cell responses. Ann Rev Immunol. 2005;23:23–68.
- 252. Melero I, Shuford W, Newby S, Aruffo A, Ledbetter J, Hellström K, et al. Monoclonal antibodies against the 4-1BB T-cell activation molecule eradicate established tumors. Nat Med. 1997;3:682–5.
- 253. Palazón A, Teijeira A, Martinez-Forero I, Hervas-Stubbs S, Roncal C, Penuelas I, et al. Agonist anti-CD137 mAb act on tumor endothelial cells to enhance recruitment of activated T lymphocytes. Cancer Res. 2011;71:801–11.
- 254. Miller RE, Jones J, Le T, Whitmore J, Boiani N, Gliniak B, Lynch DH. 4-1BB-specific monoclonal antibody promotes the generation of tumor-specific immune responses by direct activation of CD8 T cells in a CD40-dependent manner. J Immunol. 2002;169:1792–800.
- 255. Takahashi C, Mittler R, Vella A. Cutting edge: 4-1BB is a bona fide CD8 T cell survival signal. J Immunol. 1999;162:5037–40.
- Bukczynski J, Wen T, Watts TH. Costimulation of human CD28- T cells by 4-1BB ligand. Eur J Immunol. 2003;33:446–54.
- 257. Wilcox RA, Tamada K, Flies DB, Zhu G, Chapoval AI, Blazar BR, et al. Ligation of CD137 receptor prevents and reverses established anergy of CD8+ cytolytic T lymphocytes in vivo. Blood. 2004;103:177–84.
- 258. Melero I, Johnston J, Shufford W, Mittler R, Chen L. NK1.1 cells express 4-1BB (CDw137) costimulatory molecule and are required for tumor immunity elicited by anti-4-1BB monoclonal antibodies. Cell Immunol. 1998;190:167–72.

- 259. Fisher TS, Kamperschroer C, Oliphant T, Love VA, Lira PD, Doyonnas R, et al. Targeting of 4-1BB by monoclonal antibody PF-05082566 enhances T-cell function and promotes anti-tumor activity. Cancer Immunol Immnother. 2012;61:1721–33.
- 260. Murillo O, Arina A, Hervas-Stubbs S, Gupta A, MuCluskey B, Dubrot J, et al. Therapeutic antitumor efficacy of anti-CD137 agonistic monoclonal antibody in mouse models of myeloma. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:6895–906.
- 261. Dubrot J, Milheiro F, Alfaro C, Palazon A, Martinez-Forero I, Perez-Garcia JL, et al. Treatment with anti-CD137 mAbs causes intense accumulations of liver T cells without selective antitumor immunotherapeutic effects in this organ. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2010;59:1223–33.
- 262. Ye Z, Hellström I, Hayden-Ledbetter M, Dahlin A, Ledbetter JA, Hellström K. Gene therapy for cancer using single-chain Fv fragments specific for 4-1BB. Nat Med. 2002;8:343–8.
- 263. Ito F, Li Q, Shreiner AB, Okuyama R, Jure-Kunkel MN, Teitz-Tennenbaum S, Chang AE. Anti-CD137 monoclonal antibody administration augments the antitumor efficacy of dendritic cell-based vaccines. Cancer Res. 2004;64:8411–9.
- 264. Uno T, Takeda K, Kojima Y, Yoshizawa H, Akiba H, Mittler RS, et al. Eradication of established tumors in mice by a combination antibody-based therapy. Nat Med. 2006;12:693–8.
- 265. May KF, Chen L, Zheng P, Liu Y. Anti-4-1BB monoclonal antibody enhances rejection of large tumor burden by promoting survival but not clonal expansion of tumor-specific CD8+ T cells. Cancer Res. 2002;62:3459–65.
- 266. Kim YH, Choi BK, Kim KH, Kang SW, Kwon BS. Combination therapy with cisplatin and anti-4-1BB: synergistic anticancer effects and amelioration of cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity. Cancer Res. 2008;68:7264–9.
- 267. Sznol M, Hodi FS, Margolin K, McDermott DF, Ernstoff MS, Kirkwood JM, et al. Phase I study of BMS-663513, a fully human anti-CD137 agonist monoclonal antibody, in patients (pts) with advanced cancer (CA). J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:3007.
- 268. Bekiaris V, Gaspal F, Kim MY, Withers DR, Sweet C, Anderson G, Lane PJ. Synergistic OX40 and CD30 signals sustain CD8+ T cells during antigenic challenge. Eur J Immunol. 2009;39:2120–5.
- Salek-Ardakani S, Moutaftsi M, Crotty S, Sette A, Croft M. OX40 drives protective vaccinia virusspecific CD8 T cells. J Immunol. 2008;181:7969–76.
- 270. Mousavi S, Soroosh P, Takahashi T, Yoshikai Y, Shen H, Lefrançois L, et al. OX40 costimulatory signals potentiate the memory commitment of effector CD8+ T cells. J Immunol. 2008;181:5990–6001.
- 271. Gough MJ, Ruby CE, Redmond WL, Dhungel B, Brown A, Weinberg AD. OX40 agonist therapy enhances CD8 infiltration and decreases immune suppression in the tumor. Cancer Res. 2008;68:5206–15.

- 272. Ruby CE, Redmond WL, Haley D, Weinberg AD. Anti-OX40 stimulation in vivo enhances CD8+ memory T cell survival and significantly increases recall responses. Eur J Immunol. 2007;37:157–66.
- 273. Weinberg AD, Morris NP, Kovacsovics-Bankowski M, Urba WJ, Curti BD. Science gone translational: the OX40 agonist story. Immunol Rev. 2011;244:218–31.
- 274. Mallett S, Fossum S, Barclay A. Characterization of the MRC OX40 antigen of activated CD4 positive T lymphocytes--a molecule related to nerve growth factor receptor. EMBO J. 1990;9:1063–8.
- 275. Jensen S, Maston L, Gough M, Ruby CE, Redmond WL, Crittenden M, et al. Signaling through OX40 enhances antitumor immunity. Semin Oncol. 2010;37:524–32.
- 276. Gramaglia I, Weinberg A, Lemon M, Croft M. Ox-40 ligand: a potent costimulatory molecule for sustaining primary CD4 T cell responses. J Immunol. 1998;161:6510–7.
- 277. Ishii N, Ndhlovu LC, Murata K, Sato T, Kamanaka M, Sugamura K. OX40 (CD134) and OX40 ligand interaction plays an adjuvant role during in vivo Th2 responses. Eur J Immunol. 2003;33:2372–81.
- 278. Murata K, Ishii N, Takano H, Miura S, Ndhlovu L, Nose M, et al. Impairment of antigen-presenting cell function in mice lacking expression of OX40 ligand. J Exp Med. 2000;191:365–74.
- 279. Gramaglia I, Jember A, Pippig S, Weinberg A, Killeen N, Croft M. The OX40 costimulatory receptor determines the development of CD4 memory by regulating primary clonal expansion. J Immunol. 2000;165:3043–50.
- 280. Xiao X, Gong W, Demirci G, Liu W, Spoerl S, Chu X, et al. New insights on OX40 in the control of T cell immunity and immune tolerance in vivo. J Immunol. 2012;188:892–901.
- 281. Valzasina B, Guiducci C, Dislich H, Killeen N, Weinberg AD, Colombo MP. Triggering of OX40 (CD134) on CD4(+)CD25+ T cells blocks their inhibitory activity: a novel regulatory role for OX40 and its comparison with GITR. Blood. 2005;105:2845–51.
- Murata K, Nose M, Ndhlovu LC, Sato T, Sugamura K, Ishii N. Constitutive OX40/OX40 ligand interaction induces autoimmune-like diseases. J Immunol. 2002;169:4628–36.
- 283. Chen A, McAdam A, Buhlmann J, Scott S, Lupher ML Jr, Greenfield EA, et al. Ox40-ligand has a critical costimulatory role in dendritic cell:T cell interactions. Immunity. 1999;11:689–98.
- 284. Vetto J, Lum S, Morris A, Sicotte M, Davis J, Lemon M, et al. Presence of the T-cell activation marker OX-40 on tumor infiltrating lymphocytes and draining lymph node cells from patients with melanoma and head and neck cancers. Am J Surg. 1997;174:258–65.
- 285. Ramstad T, Lawnicki L, Vetto J, Weinberg A. Immunohistochemical analysis of primary breast tumors and tumor-draining lymph nodes by means

of the T-cell costimulatory molecule OX-40. Am J Surg. 2000;179:400–6.

- 286. Weinberg A, Rivera M, Prell R, Morris A, Ramstad T, Vetto J, et al. Engagement of the OX-40 receptor in vivo enhances antitumor immunity. J Immunol. 2000;64:2160–9.
- 287. Morris A, Vetto J, Ramstad T, Funatake C, Choolun E, Entwisle C, et al. Induction of anti-mammary cancer immunity by engaging the OX-40 receptor in vivo. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2001;67:71–80.
- Weinberg A, Vella A, Croft M. OX-40: life beyond the effector T cell stage. Semin Immunol. 1998;10:471–80.
- 289. Evans D, Prell R, Thalhofer C, Hurwitz A, Weinberg A. Engagement of OX40 enhances antigen-specific CD4(+) T cell mobilization/memory development and humoral immunity: comparison of alphaOX-40 with alphaCTLA-4. J Immunol. 2001;167:6804–11.
- 290. Houot R, Levy R. T-cell modulation combined with intratumoral CpG cures lymphoma in a mouse model without the need for chemotherapy. Blood. 2009;113:3546–52.
- 291. Gough MJ, Crittenden MR, Sarff M, Pang P, Seung SK, Vetto JT, et al. Adjuvant therapy with agonistic antibodies to CD134 (OX40) increases local control after surgical or radiation therapy of cancer in mice. J Immunother. 2010;33:798–809.
- 292. Schaer DA, Murphy JT, Wolchok JD. Modulation of GITR for cancer immunotherapy. Curr Opin Immunol. 2012;24(2):217–24.
- 293. Tone M, Tone Y, Adams E, Yates SF, Frewin MR, Cobbold SP, et al. Mouse glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor ligand is costimulatory for T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100:15059–64.
- 294. Snell LM, Lin GH, McPherson AJ, Moraes TJ, Watts TH. T-cell intrinsic effects of GITR and 4-1BB during viral infection and cancer immunotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2011;244:197–217.
- 295. Shevach EM, Stephens GL. The GITR-GITRL interaction: co-stimulation or contrasuppression of regulatory activity? Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6:613–8.
- 296. Kim J, Choi B, Bae J, Lee U, Han I, Lee H, et al. Cloning and characterization of GITR ligand. Genes Immun. 2003;4:564–9.
- 297. Ronchetti S, Zollo O, Bruscoli S, Agostini M, Bianchini R, Nocentini G, et al. GITR, a member of the TNF receptor superfamily, is costimulatory to mouse T lymphocyte subpopulations. Eur J Immunol. 2004;34:613–22.
- 298. Stephens GL, McHugh RS, Whitters MJ, Young DA, Luxenberg D, Carreno BM, et al. Engagement of glucocorticoid-induced TNFR family-related receptor on effector T cells by its ligand mediates resistance to suppression by CD4+CD25+ T cells. J Immunol. 2004;173:5008–20.
- 299. Kanamaru F, Youngnak P, Hashiguchi M, Nishioka T, Takahashi T, Sakaguchi S, et al. Costimulation via glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor in both

conventional and CD25+ regulatory CD4+ T cells. J Immunol. 2004;172:7306–14.

- 300. Kohm AP, Williams JS, Miller SD. Cutting edge: ligation of the glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor enhances autoreactive CD4+ T cell activation and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2004;172:4686–90.
- 301. Snell LM, McPherson AJ, Lin GH, Sakaguchi S, Pandolfi P, Riccardi C, et al. CD8 T cell-intrinsic GITR is required for T cell clonal expansion and mouse survival following severe influenza infection. J Immunol. 2010;185:7223–34.
- 302. Cuzzocrea S, Nocentini G, Paola R, Agostini M, Mazzon E, Ronchetti S, et al. Proinflammatory role of glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor-related gene in acute lung inflammation. J Immunol. 2006;177:631–41.
- 303. Cuzzocrea S, Nocentini G, Paola R, Mazzon E, Ronchetti S, Genovese T, et al. Glucocorticoidinduced TNF receptor family gene (GITR) knockout mice exhibit a resistance to splanchnic artery occlusion (SAO) shock. J Leukoc Biol. 2004;76:933–40.
- 304. Galuppo M, Nocentini G, Mazzon E, Ronchetti S, Esposito E, Riccardi L, et al. GITR gene deletion and GITR-FC soluble protein administration inhibit multiple organ failure induced by zymosan. Shock. 2011;36:263–71.
- 305. Boczkowski D, Lee J, Pruitt S, Nair S. Dendritic cells engineered to secrete anti-GITR antibodies are effective adjuvants to dendritic cell-based immunotherapy. Cancer Gene Ther. 2009;16:900–11.
- 306. Nishikawa H, Kato T, Hirayama M, Orito Y, Sato E, Harada N, et al. Regulatory T cell-resistant CD8+ T cells induced by glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor signaling. Cancer Res. 2008;68:5948–54.
- 307. Cohen AD, Diab A, Perales MA, Julchok JD, Rizzuto G, Merghoub T, et al. Agonist anti-GITR antibody enhances vaccine-induced CD8(+) T-cell responses and tumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2006;66:4904–12.
- Eliopoulos AG, Young LS. The role of the CD40 pathway in the pathogenesis and treatment of cancer. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2004;4:360–7.
- van Kooten C, Banchereau J. CD40-CD40 ligand. J Leukoc Biol. 2000;67:2–17.
- 310. Wang Y, Kelly C, Karttunen J, Whittall T, Lehner PJ, Duncan L, et al. CD40 is a cellular receptor mediating mycobacterial heat shock protein 70 stimulation of CC-chemokines. Immunity. 2001;15:971–83.
- 311. Brodeur SR, Angelini F, Bacharier LB, Blom AM, Mizoguchi E, Fujiwara H, et al. C4b-binding protein (C4BP) activates B cells through the CD40 receptor. Immunity. 2003;18:837–48.
- 312. Mach F, Schönbeck U, Sukhova G, Bourcier T, Bonnefoy J, Pober J, et al. Functional CD40 ligand is expressed on human vascular endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, and macrophages: implications for CD40-CD40 ligand signaling in atherosclerosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94:1931–6.

- 313. Stout R, Suttles J, Xu J, Grewal I, Flavell R. Impaired T cell-mediated macrophage activation in CD40 ligand-deficient mice. J Immunol. 1996;156:8–11.
- 314. Mackey M, Barth R, Noelle R. The role of CD40/ CD154 interactions in the priming, differentiation, and effector function of helper and cytotoxic T cells. J Leukoc Biol. 1998;63:418–28.
- 315. Bennett S, Carbone F, Karamalis F, Flavell R, Miller J, Heath W. Help for cytotoxic-T-cell responses is mediated by CD40 signalling. Nature. 1998;393:478–80.
- 316. Ridge J, Rosa DF, Matzinger P. A conditioned dendritic cell can be a temporal bridge between a CD4+ T-helper and a T-killer cell. Nature. 1998;393:474–8.
- 317. Schoenberger S, Toes R, van der Voort E, Offringa R, Melief C. T-cell help for cytotoxic T lymphocytes is mediated by CD40-CD40L interactions. Nature. 1998;393:480–3.
- Callard R, Armitage R, Fanslow W, Spriggs M. CD40 ligand and its role in X-linked hyper-IgM syndrome. Immunol Today. 1993;14:559–64.
- 319. Hill SC, Youde SJ, Man S, Teale GR, Baxendale AJ, Hislop A, et al. Activation of CD40 in cervical carcinoma cells facilitates CTL responses and augments chemotherapy-induced apoptosis. J Immunol. 2005;174:41–50.
- 320. Mackey M, Gunn J, Maliszewsky C, Kikutani H, Noelle R, Barth R. Dendritic cells require maturation via CD40 to generate protective antitumor immunity. J Immunol. 1998;161:2094–8.
- 321. Mackey M, Gunn J, Ting P, Kikutani H, Dranoff G, Noelle R, et al. Protective immunity induced by tumor vaccines requires interaction between CD40 and its ligand, CD154. Cancer Res. 1997;57:2569–74.
- 322. Sotomayor E, Borrello I, Tubb E, Rattis F, Bien H, Lu Z, et al. Conversion of tumor-specific CD4+ T-cell tolerance to T-cell priming through in vivo ligation of CD40. Nat Med. 1999;5:780–7.
- 323. Diehl L, den Boer A, Schoenberger S, van der Voort E, Schumacher T, Melief C, et al. CD40 activation in vivo overcomes peptide-induced peripheral cytotoxic T-lymphocyte tolerance and augments antitumor vaccine efficacy. Nat Med. 1999;5:774–9.
- 324. French R, Chan H, Tutt A, Glennie M. CD40 antibody evokes a cytotoxic T-cell response that eradicates lymphoma and bypasses T-cell help. Nat Med. 1999;5:548–53.
- 325. Tutt AL, O'Brien L, Hussain A, Crowther GR, French RR, Glennie MJ. T cell immunity to lymphoma following treatment with anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody. J Immunol. 2002;168:2720–8.
- 326. Todryk S, Tutt A, Green M, Smallwood J, Halanek N, Dalgleish A, et al. CD40 ligation for immunotherapy of solid tumours. J Immunol Methods. 2001;248:139–47.
- 327. Vonderheide RH, Glennie MJ. Agonistic CD40 antibodies and cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:1035–43.
- 328. Pellat-Deceunynck C, Amiot M, Robillard N, Wijdenes J, Bataille R. CD11a-CD18 and CD102

interactions mediate human myeloma cell growth arrest induced by CD40 stimulation. Cancer Res. 1996;56:1909–16.

- 329. Funakoshi S, Longo D, Beckwith M, Conley D, Tsarfaty G, Tsarfaty I, et al. Inhibition of human B-cell lymphoma growth by CD40 stimulation. Blood. 1994;83:2787–94.
- 330. Vonderheide R, Dutcher J, Anderson J, Eckhardt S, Stephans K, Razvillas B, et al. Phase I study of recombinant human CD40 ligand in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19:3280–7.
- 331. Vonderheide RH, Flaherty KT, Khalil M, Stumacher MS, Bajor DL, Hutnick NA, et al. Clinical activity and immune modulation in cancer patients treated with CP-870,893, a novel CD40 agonist monoclonal antibody. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:876–83.
- 332. Rüter J, Antonia SJ, Burris HA, Huhn RD, Vonderheide RH. Immune modulation with weekly dosing of an agonist CD40 antibody in a phase I study of patients with advanced solid tumors. Cancer Biol Ther. 2010;10:983–93.
- 333. Beatty GL, Chiorean EG, Fishman MP, Saboury B, Teitelbaum UR, Sun W, et al. CD40 agonists alter tumor stroma and show efficacy against pancreatic carcinoma in mice and humans. Science. 2011;331:1612–6.
- 334. Vonderheide RH, Burg JM, Mick R, Trosko JA, Li D, Shaik NM, et al. Phase I study of the CD40 agonist antibody CP-870,893 combined with carboplatin and paclitaxel in patients with advanced solid tumors. OncoImmunology. 2013;2:e23033.
- 335. Hussein M, Berenson JR, Niesvizky R, Munshi N, Matous J, Sobecks R, et al. A phase I multidose study of dacetuzumab (SGN-40; humanized anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody) in patients with multiple myeloma. Haematologica. 2010;95:845–8.
- 336. Furman RR, Forero-Torres A, Shustov A, Drachman JG. A phase I study of dacetuzumab (SGN-40, a humanized anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody) in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2010;51:228–35.
- 337. Lewis TS, McCormick RS, Emmerton K, Lau JT, Yu S-F, McEarchern JA, et al. Distinct apoptotic signaling characteristics of the anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody dacetuzumab and rituximab produce enhanced antitumor activity in non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17:4672–81.
- 338. Forero-Torres A, Bartlett N, Beaven A, Myint H, Nasta S, Northfelt DW, et al. Pilot study of dacetuzumab in combination with rituximab and gemcitabine for relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma. 2013;54(2):277–83.
- 339. Johnson PW, Steven NM, Chowdhury F, Dobbyn J, Hall E, Ashton-Key M, et al. A Cancer Research UK phase I study evaluating safety, tolerability, and biological effects of chimeric anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody (MAb), Chi Lob 7/4. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(15_suppl):2507.
- 340. Planken E, Dijkstra N, Willemze R, Kluin-Nelemans J. Proliferation of B cell malignancies in all stages of

differentiation upon stimulation in the "CD40 system". Leukemia. 1996;10(3):488–93.

- 341. Byrd JC, Kipps TJ, Flinn IW, Cooper M, Odenjke O, Bendiske J, et al. Phase I study of the anti-CD40 humanized monoclonal antibody lucatumumab (HCD122) in relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2012;53(11):2136–42.
- 342. Bensinger W, Maziarz RT, Jagannath S, Spencer A, Durrant S, Becker PS, et al. A phase 1 study of lucatumumab, a fully human anti-CD40 antagonist monoclonal antibody administered intravenously to patients with relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma. Br J Haematol. 2012;159(1):58–66.
- 343. Du W, Yang M, Turner A, Xu C, Ferris RL, Huang J, et al. TIM-3 as a target for cancer immunotherapy and mechanisms of action. In J Mol Sci. 2017;18(3):645.
- 344. Das M, Zhu C, Kuchroo VK. Tim-3 and its role in regulating anti-tumor immunity. Immunol Rev. 2017;276:97–111.
- 345. Bourre L (2017) What's Next for Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors: TIM-3? In: CrownBio. https://blog.

crownbio.com/tim-3-immune-checkpoint-inhibitor. 2017. Accessed 15 June 2018.

- 346. Gao X, Zhu Y, Li G, Huang H, Zhang G, Wang F, et al. TIM-3 expression characterizes regulatory T cells in tumor tissues and is associated with lung cancer progression. PLoS One. 2012;7(2):e30676.
- 347. Ocaña-Guzman R, Torre-Bouscoulet L, Sada-Ovalle I. TIM-3 regulates distinct functions in macrophages. Front Immunol. 2016;7:229.
- 348. Nirschl CJ, Drake CG. Molecular pathways: coexpression of immune checkpoint molecules: signaling pathways and implications for cancer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:4917–24.
- 349. Freeman GJ, Casasnovas JM, Umetsu DT, DeKruyff RH. TIM genes: a family of cell surface phosphatidylserine receptors that regulate innate and adaptive immunity. Immunol Rev. 2010;235:172–89.
- 350. Suntharalingam G, Perry MR, Ward S, Brett SJ, Castello-Cortes A, Brunner MD, et al. Cytokine storm in a phase 1 trial of the anti-CD28 monoclonal antibody TGN1412. N Engl J Med. 2006;355:1018–28.